

PRACTICE DIRECTIONS

Northern Territory Local Court

These Practice Directions are issued pursuant to section 49(1) of the Local Court Act, section 53(1)(b) of the Youth Justice Act and section 31(3) of the Work Health Administration Act and will commence from 15 September 2020.

Table of Contents

Part 1 GENERAL PRACTICE DIRECTIONS	5
Practice Direction 1A Private Audio Recording of Proceedings	6
Practice Direction 1B Access to Case Files and Exhibits	7
Practice Direction 1C Audio and Video Evidence	9
Practice Direction 1D Return of Exhibits	10
Practice Direction 1E Restriction on Publication of Children's Names	11
Practice Direction 1F Evidence by Video Conferencing Facilities	12
Practice Direction 1G Relisting Matters before the Local Court	14
Practice Direction 1H Electronic Filing	15
Practice Direction 1HA Electronic Witnessing & Signatures	17
Part 2 LOCAL COURT (CRIMINAL DIVISION) PRACTICE DIRECTIONS	18
Practice Direction 2A Access to Reports	19
Practice Direction 2B Applications for Breaches, Reviews, Variations or Setting Aside of Orders	
Practice Direction 2C Callover Procedure in Darwin	21
Practice Direction 2D Applications for Interim Orders under the Child Protection (Offender Reporting and Registration) Act 2004	
Practice Direction 2E Persons in the Custody of the Court and Surrender Warrants	23
Practice Direction 2F Prisoners at Risk of Harm	24
Practice Direction 2G Procedures During and Following Preliminary Examination (Comm	nittal)26
Practice Direction 2H Transmission of Summary Offence	30
Practice Direction 2I Custody Audio Visual Link Mentions	31
Practice Direction 2J Directions Hearings	32
Part 3 LOCAL COURT (CIVIL DIVISION) AND WORK HEALTH COURT PRACTICE DIR	ECTIONS
33	
Practice Direction 3A Listings and Adjournments	34
Practice Direction 3B Section 102AA Motor Vehicles Act 1949 – Application for Driving L	icence 36.
Practice Direction 3C Case Flow Management	37
Practice Direction 3D Appearances and Ceasing to Act	39
Practice Direction 3E Criminal Property Forfeiture Act 2002	41
Practice Direction 3F Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (Cth)	43
Practice Direction 3G Powers of Judicial Registrar	45
Part 4 CHILDREN'S COURT PRACTICE DIRECTIONS	46

Part 1 GENERAL PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 1A Private Audio Recording of Proceedings

	Practice Direction 4A Family Responsibility Orders	47
	Practice Direction 4B Referrals for Pre-Sentence Conferences	48
	Practice Direction 4C Youth Justice Proceedings	50
	Practice Direction 4CA Youth Justice Community Court Sentencing Procedure	70
	Practice Direction 4D Applications for Reconsideration and Review	81
	Practice Direction 4E Care and Protection of Children	82
	Practice Direction 4F REVOKED	90
P	art 5 SPECIALIST JURISDICTIONS PRACTICE DIRECTIONS	91
	Practice Direction 5A Domestic Violence	92
	Practice Direction 5AA Specialist Domestic and Family Violence List – Alice Springs	96
	Practice Direction 5AB Contested Criminal Proceedings involving Domestic and Family	
	Violence – Alice Springs	103
	Practice Direction 5B Treatment Orders	106
	Practice Direction 5C Adoption of Children	107
	Practice Direction 5D Mental Health Diversion List	108
	Practice Direction 5E Katherine Sitting Times	113
	Practice Direction 5F De Facto Relationships	114
	Practice Direction 5G Application for Disease Test Order	115
	Practice Direction 5H Personal Violence Restraining Orders	116
	Practice Direction 5I Community Court Sentencing Procedure (Adult)	117

Preface Version 2.0, 8 May 2020

The declaration of a pandemic in March 2020 has led to the assessment and adaption of many procedures in the Local Court of the Northern Territory. Our consolidated Practice Directions have now been reissued, taking into account practices and procedures to minimise risk of infection to the community, whilst still allowing access to and continuation of Court Services.

The ability of the Local Court to continue to function at a time of uncertainty is an important cornerstone of our society. There will be inevitable delay in relation to the conclusion of many of the matters before the Court. However by adapting to change, but maintaining due process of law, including by exploring options to ensure open justice, the Court can continue to play its role in providing stability and accountability in our community.

The Hon. Elizabeth Morris

Chief Judge of the Northern Territory of Australia Local Court

The aleth Man

Preface Version 1.0, 30 September 2019

The Local Court Act 2016 (NT) confers the Chief Judge with the power to issue directions about the practice and procedure of the Court in any jurisdiction, and also the practice and procedure of the Court's registries and other offices.¹

Over the years the Local Court, or Court of Summary Jurisdiction as it was known prior to 2016, has issued a number of practice directions to assist those appearing before it to comply with its procedural requirements. With the advent of technology becoming increasingly relevant in court proceedings, the format and accessibility of individual practice directions has been tested. Accordingly, the Court undertook to compile one comprehensive and consolidated set of Practice Directions.

The idea behind the consolidation is both to modernise and remove outdated or irrelevant practice directions, or those so entrenched in practice that they are no longer required; to increase accessibility by creating a single source document which arranges directions by subject area, which is easier to read and electronically search; to provide a more straight forward method to reference the practice directions; and to incorporate a complete set of forms.

The consolidation project has been undertaken by a committee consisting of the Principal Registrar Rebecca Plummer, and Judicial Registrars Leanne Gordon and Kris Norrington, in consultation with the Chief Judge of the Local Court. We are extremely grateful for the committee's hard work and dedication to the project.

With the publication of these consolidated Practice Directions, all former Directions are terminated in their operation. For clarity, as and when these Practice Directions are amended they shall be republished on the Local Court website in full and repeal the previous version.

Whilst this process has streamlined and enhanced the accessibility of the procedural and practical expectations of the Court, persons appearing before the Court must read these directions in conjunction with the Local Court suite of legislations and rules. Other useful information is also available at the Local Court website: www.localcourt.nt.gov.au, including an electronic version of this document which allows users to navigate through the hyperlinked chapters and form references.

The document's purpose is to assist the user's experience, so we welcome any feedback in order to improve future versions of the document.

The Hon Dr John Lowndes

Chief Judge of the Northern Territory of Australia Local Court

¹ Local Court Act 2016 (NT), s49.

Part 1 GENERAL PRACTICE DIRECTIONS
Practice Direction 1A Private Audio Recording of Proceedings

Part 1 GENERAL PRACTICE DIRECTIONS

These Practice Directions are issued pursuant to section 49(1) of the Local Court Act, section 53(1)(b) of the Youth Justice Act and section 31(3) of the Work Health Administration Act and will commence from 15 September 2020.

Practice Direction 1A Private Audio Recording of Proceedings

- (1) The audio recording of Court proceedings produced by Epic Global is and will remain the authoritative audio record of proceedings.
- (2) Court accredited representatives of news/media agencies are permitted to make a private audio recording of Court proceedings provided it is done unobtrusively and without interruption to the proceedings. For that purpose, a hand-held recorder may be taken into a courtroom and activated.
- (3) The purpose of permitting such recording is to maintain accuracy in the reporting of Court proceedings. The audio content of the recording may not be broadcast, copied, downloaded or provided to any other person or organisation unless provision is to legal advisors for the purposes of obtaining legal advice in connection with the recording and publication of its content.
- (4) The person who makes the private audio recording or the employer for whom the recording is made must retain possession of the recording and not edit or delete the recording for a minimum period of three months following the making of the recording or for such period as a Judge of the Court may order.
- (5) This Practice Direction does not impinge on the right of a Judge to revise, subsequently, a judgment delivered extempore; or a Judge's right, in a particular case, to prohibit recording should the Judge consider prohibition necessary or desirable.

Practice Direction 1B Access to Case Files and Exhibits

- (1) Section 28 of the *Local Court Act 2016 (the Act)* prescribes the documents, records and other information that constitute the case file for proceedings in the Local Court, Youth Justice Court and the Work Health Court.
- (2) Sections 29, 30 and 31 of *the Act* deals with access to case files, judgments and orders and exhibits.
- (3) The purpose of this Practice Direction is to regulate the process for access to case files and exhibits that is not otherwise provided for in *the Act*.

Access to Case Files

- (4) Access to case files by either a party or other person must be sought by sending a completed Access to Case Files Form to Operations.LocalCourt@nt.gov.au, attention to the relevant registry, i.e. 'Access to Case File request ATTN: Alice Spring Registry'. This form can be found on the Local Court website.
- (5) The Court, in exercising its discretion to grant access pursuant to section 29(2) of *the Act*, will have regard to all the circumstances including:
 - (a) the public interest in granting or refusing access;
 - (b) the reasons why access is requested;
 - (c) whether or not the document or documents sought to be inspected contain libellous material or information which the Court considers should remain confidential to the parties; and
 - (d) the stage at which the proceedings have reached.

Access to Exhibits

- (6) Access to exhibits by either a party or other person must be sought through the same process that applies to access to case files.
- (7) Whether or not access to an exhibit will be given to a non-party is in the discretion of the presiding Local Court Judge.
- (8) In exercising this discretion the Local Court Judge will consider all of the circumstances including:
 - (a) the public interest in granting or refusing access;
 - (b) whether the exhibit is likely to offend public decency;
 - (c) whether the exhibit contains material which is not able to be disclosed by reason of law or a court order:

Part 1 GENERAL PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 1B Access to Case Files and Exhibits

- (d) whether the exhibit ought to remain confidential for any other reason; and
- (e) whether the exhibit needs to be edited before it is released.

Practice Direction 1C Audio and Video Evidence

- (1) The purpose of this Practice Direction is to prescribe the procedure to be followed when it is proposed to adduce audio or video evidence in the Local Court (Criminal and Civil Divisions), the Youth Justice Court and the Work Health Court.
- (2) Audio and video recordings for use in Court must be compatible with the Court's playing equipment. For this purpose, unless the Court otherwise orders, audio recordings must be on a USB Flash Drive or any other format as directed by the Court, accounting for changes in technology or availability of technology at any given time.
- (3) Any audio and video recording sought to be used in Court must be produced to the Court in sufficient time prior to its intended use to enable it to be tested on the Court's playing equipment.

Practice Direction 1D Return of Exhibits

- (1) The purpose of this practice direction is to ensure the orderly return of exhibits tendered at a hearing in the Work Health Court, Youth Justice Court and the Local Court.
- (2) Where documents or property are produced and/or tendered by a party or a solicitor for a party then the Court shall return those documents or property to the solicitor or the party themselves if unrepresented.
- (3) Where the documents or property are produced under summons to the Court by a person not a party to the action, whether or not they are tendered, then those documents or property shall be returned to that person at the cost of the party who summonsed them.
- (4) Exhibits shall not be returned until the appeal period has passed and all appeal proceedings have been resolved.

Criminal Proceedings

(5) Where the owner of exhibits or property in connection with criminal proceedings is unable to be located, is non responsive, or is otherwise refusing to accept the receipt of the exhibits, the Court may on application of a police officer, claimant of the property or on its own initiative make any order it sees fit under section 130B *Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928.*

Practice Direction 1E Restriction on Publication of Children's Names

(1) The purpose of this Practice Direction is to ensure compliance with sections 97 and 301 of the Care and Protection of Children Act 2007 ('the Act').

Procedure

- (2) All proceedings in the Family Matters jurisdiction of the Local Court shall be in closed Court and the names of parties will not be published on the court list; reference will only be made to the file number and the courtroom in which it is to be heard.
- (3) Parties are required to wait outside of the courtroom until called. Practitioners should assist the court officer to identify family members in relation to each matter to avoid confusion of unrepresented parties.
- (4) Representatives appearing in a matter in the Local Court (other than the Family Matters jurisdiction) or the Youth Justice Court that may possibly involve the identification of a child in need of protection should alert the Court prior to commencement of proceedings that section 301 of the Act may apply and the court may need to be closed. If it becomes apparent that the representative was wrong about the possibility of identification then it is within the discretion of the Local Court Judge to re-open the Court.
- (5) If it becomes apparent that section 301 of the Act may apply during a proceeding the representative should bring this to the attention of the Local Court Judge as soon as possible.

Practice Direction 1F Evidence by Video Conferencing Facilities

- (1) The purpose of this Practice Direction is to ensure that matters are dealt with as efficiently and effectively as possible where it is proposed to adduce evidence by the use of videoconferencing facilities.
- (2) A party seeking to adduce evidence by the use of video conferencing facilities will be primarily responsible for servicing any costs and arrangements required.

Civil Procedure

- (3) In the Civil jurisdiction, all applications for an order to adduce evidence by the use of video conferencing facilities are made to the Local Court Judge to whom a proceeding has been allocated for hearing (Hearing Judge).
- (4) A party must apply for an order to adduce evidence by video conferencing by filing an application in accordance with Form 25A and serve a copy of the application on each other party.
- (5) The application must state the name of the witness to be examined and the nature of the evidence to be given by the witness and, if applicable, the arrangements the party has made for the video conferencing link.
- (6) The application must be heard by the Hearing Judge or by a Judicial Registrar, if directed to do so by the Local Court Judge.
- (7) The Hearing Judge may make orders he or she considers appropriate, including orders in respect of the following matters:
 - (a) the witness or witnesses who may give evidence by video conferencing facilities;
 - (b) the date, time and place of the video conferencing link; and/or
 - (c) whether the evidence in chief of an expert witness to be adduced by the video conferencing link is to be confined to that expert's statement.
- (8) A party who is given leave to adduce evidence by the use of video conferencing facilities shall:
 - (a) arrange and pay for the booking of the necessary facilities at both ends of the video conferencing link and all other associated costs and expenses;
 - (b) contact the other facility and make the booking, and request that facility to contact the relevant registry as to whether those times are suitable to the Court; and
 - (c) make the booking of the Court facilities by completing the Video Conferencing Booking Form, including an undertaking to meet the costs and expenses of the video conferencing link. The form can be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>.

Work Health Procedure

(9) A party seeking to adduce evidence by a communication link must apply for an order in accordance with rule 16.03 of the *Work Health Court Rules 1998.*

Care and Protection Procedure

- (10) In appropriate cases, the Court may allow the appearance of parties or counsel via telephone link or video link, or other medium.
- (11) A party wishing to appear via a link must provide adequate notice and adequate information to the Court.
- (12) A party who is given leave to adduce evidence by the use of video conferencing facilities shall:
 - (a) arrange and pay for the booking of the necessary facilities at both ends of the video conferencing link and all other associated costs and expenses;
 - (b) contact the other facility and make the booking, and request that facility to contact the relevant registry as to whether those times are suitable to the Court; and
 - (c) make the booking of the Court facilities by completing the Video Conferencing Booking Form, including an undertaking to meet the costs and expenses of the video conferencing link. This form can be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>.

Criminal Procedure (including Youth Justice Court)

- (13) A party who is given leave to adduce evidence by the use of video conferencing facilities shall:
 - (a) arrange and pay for the booking of the necessary facilities at both ends of the video conferencing link and all other associated costs and expenses;
 - (b) contact the other facility and make the booking, and request that facility to contact the relevant registry as to whether those times are suitable to the Court; and
 - (c) make the booking of the Court facilities by completing the Video Conferencing Booking Form, including an undertaking to meet the costs and expenses of the video conferencing link. This form can be found on the Local Court website.

Practice Direction 1G Relisting Matters before the Local Court

Procedure in Relation to Applications to Re-List

- (1) All applications to list a matter on a date other than as ordered by the Court must be made by completing the Request to Re-List Form in the relevant jurisdiction and lodging it with the court registry at the place at which the matter is being heard. The form for each jurisdiction can be found at on the Local Court website.
- (2) In the case of remote circuits which do not have a court registry, the application is to be made to the court registry at the place associated with the circuit, unless that circuit is sitting at the time the application is made. Where that circuit is sitting when the application is made, the application may be lodged with the court officer at that sitting.
- (3) The application to re-list is to be considered by a registrar or a judge who will determine whether the matter is to be re-listed, and if so specify the date on which the matter is to be re-listed.
- (4) If a judge has already been allocated to hear a matter any application to re-list must be referred to and determined by that judge, unless it is not practicable to do so, in which event a registrar may proceed to determine the application.
- (5) All other applications to re-list are to be determined by a registrar unless the registrar considers that the circumstances of either the application or the matter make it more appropriate for a judge to determine the application.
- (6) An application to re-list must be completed in full, otherwise it may not be considered and determined.
- (7) In addition to the application, if any further documentation is required to be completed pursuant to other legislation (such as a Request for Review of a Bail Decision under Regulation 5 of the Bail Regulations), that documentation must also be completed and accompany the application to re-list.
- (8) The court registry will notify the applicant of the determination made as soon as practicable after the determination is made.
- (9) It is the responsibility of the applicant to notify the opposing party of the outcome of the application, unless they are prohibited from doing so by law or court order. In such an event the applicant will advise the registry that they are unable to notify the other party and the registry will provide notice of the outcome of the application to the other party.
- (10) The Court next hearing a re-listed matter may require proof of reasonable notice of the date and time of the re-listed matter being given to the other party by the applicant.

Practice Direction 1H Electronic Filing

This Practice Direction provides for electronic filing in all Local Court Jurisdictions.

Electronic Filing

- (1) Any document which is to be filed or lodged with the Local Court can be filed or lodged by email to the relevant registry.
- (2) The email addresses for the purpose of this Practice Direction are:

Darwin Local Court (Civil Registry) - DLC.CivilRegistry@nt.gov.au

Darwin Local Court (Criminal Registry) - <u>DLC.CriminalRegistry@nt.gov.au</u>

Darwin Local Court (Domestic and Personal Violence matters) - DLC.DV@nt.gov.au

Darwin Childrens Court - Darwin.ChildrensCourt@nt.gov.au

Alice Springs Local Court (Civil Registry) - ASLC.CivilRegistry@nt.gov.au

Alice Springs Local Court (Criminal Registry) - <u>ASLC.CriminalRegistry@nt.gov.au</u>

Alice Springs Local Court (Domestic and Personal Violence matters) - ASLC.DV@nt.gov.au

Katherine Local Court – Katherine.LocalCourt@nt.gov.au

- (3) Documents being lodged electronically must:
 - (a) be attached as a single document; and
 - (b) be labelled with the name or adequate description of the document being filed; and
 - (c) not be emailed with documents relating to different court files; and
 - (d) be a text searchable PDF, JPEG or TIFF document with no viewing, printing or copying restrictions; and
 - (e) be paginated and not more than 25 megabytes in size; and
 - (f) have 300 dots per inch resolution with a black and white setting; and
 - (g) not contain a virus or malware.
- (4) If the document contains a hyperlink to an external source, the content of the source is not part of the document.
- (5) If the document is an affidavit which contains annexures, each annexure must have a bookmark applied to the annexure certificate before it is uploaded.
- (6) If a document does not comply with this Practice Direction for any reason, a Registrar may:

Part 1 GENERAL PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 1H Electronic Filing

- (a) notify the user filing the document and request that the user file the document in a different, or specified, format or manner (including directions for the filing of hard copies); or
- (b) approve the filing of the document.
- (7) Any email sent to the Court for the purposes of filing electronically must contain the following:
 - (a) confirmation that the document is emailed for the purpose of electronic filing; and
 - (b) the court file number (unless the documents being filed are an originating process and a court file number has not yet been allocated); and
 - (c) the name of the document/s being filed; and
 - (d) detail of the party seeking to file the document, including preferred phone and email contact details.
- (8) Multiple documents for filing may be attached to a single email, provided that each document to be filed is individually identified and listed separately in the body of the email.
- (9) Documents filed electronically will be taken to be filed at the date and time shown on the email received by the Court Registry, however documents received outside Registry hours (8.00 am – 4.00 pm ACST) or on weekends or public holidays will be taken to be received at 8.00 am on the next business day.
- (10) It is the responsibility of the court user to ensure the successful transmission of any documents being filed electronically.
- (11) When filing electronically, only 1 copy of each document should be filed and if a document has been received and accepted by the Registry, it is unnecessary for any paper copies to be provided to the Registry.
- (12) Nothing in this Practice Direction alters parties' obligations for service and the form of service as prescribed by the Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules 1998 and Work Health Court Rules 1999.
- (13) Upon the commencement of this Practice Direction electronic filing will be mandatory for legal practitioners unless it is impossible or impractical for compliance with this practice direction due to technical, logistical or other reasons.
- (14) All payments for filings are to be via credit card over the phone to the relevant registry, or via cheque.
- (15) If a document is too large to be filed electronically by email, for example a large brief of evidence being filed pursuant to s105D of the Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act, the relevant registry should be contacted for arrangements to be made for filing by a USB device.

Practice Direction 1HA Electronic Witnessing & Signatures

Witnessing Documents

- (1) Any references in the *Oaths, Affidavits and Declarations Act 2010* to actions being undertaken in the 'presence' of a witness includes an audio visual presence.
- (2) Audio visual presence includes, but is not limited to a phone conversation or video communication application (such as skype, webex, zoom).
- (3) Witnessing of documents should be as contemporaneous as technology allows.
- (4) The deponent must send the document being sworn to the witness immediately, or if not practicable, then the earliest opportunity that circumstances allow.
- (5) Acceptance of a witnessed document is at the final discretion of the Court and a person making an oath may be required to remake or affirm the oath previously given if required by the Court.

Signing Documents

(6) Any requirement to sign a document for court purposes includes an electronic signature unless contrary to a legislative requirement.

Audio Recorded Declarations

- (7) The Oaths, Affidavits and Declarations Act 2010 allows for statutory declarations to be made as audio or audio visual recordings:
 - (a) a person wishing to rely on a recorded statutory declaration must comply with section 20 of the *Oaths*, *Affidavits and Declarations Act 2010* and;
 - (b) provide a copy of the recording to the Court by email or USB;
 - (c) provide a copy of the recording to any other party by way of service in accordance with any Local Court Rules; and
 - (d) be transcribed and filed if directed by the Court.

Part 2 LOCAL COURT (CRIMINAL DIVISION) PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 1HA Electronic Witnessing & Signatures

Part 2 LOCAL COURT (CRIMINAL DIVISION) PRACTICE DIRECTIONS

The following Practice Directions are issued pursuant to section 49 (1) of the Local Court Act and will commence from 30 September 2019.

Practice Direction 2A Access to Reports

- (1) The purpose of this Practice Direction is to regulate the procedure in the Local Court (Criminal Division) for obtaining reports from Community Corrections and accessing those reports, including the following:
 - (a) bail supervision assessment;
 - (b) community work order assessment;
 - (c) community based order assessment;
 - (d) family violence program assessment;
 - (e) community custody order;
 - (f) supervision by a probation and parole officer assessment;
 - (g) home detention order assessment;
 - (h) electronic monitoring assessment;
 - (i) commit assessment;
 - (j) pre-sentence report; and/or
 - (k) psychiatric or psychological report.
- (2) The above reports may be ordered by the Court by completing an Order for Pre-Sentence and Suitability Reports form. This form can be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>. When ordering a report the Court is to specify the date that the report is required and may direct that the report be provided to the Court prior to the court date.
- (3) Parties to the proceedings need not seek approval for access and may gain access to a copy of the report as soon as it has been provided to the Court; though it is the responsibility of each party to gain access to the report by contacting the relevant court registry.
- (4) Reports may be provided by Community Corrections to the Court electronically by emailing the report to the relevant registrar.

Practice Direction 2B Applications for Breaches, Reviews, Variations or Setting Aside of Court Orders

- (1) The following procedure is to be followed for applications for variation, review or breach of a court order under the relevant provisions of the *Sentencing Act 1995* and under section 121 of the *Youth Justice Act 2005*.
- (2) The application, supporting affidavit and any compliance report are to be lodged with the court registry.
- (3) Applications for breach of a court order should be dealt with as expeditiously as possible and, where practicable, by the Judge who made the order.
- (4) Where an application is lodged at a court house for the issue of a warrant for apprehension of the defendant or youth, the decision to issue a warrant is to be made by the criminal registrar.
- (5) Where the matter is to proceed by way of summons, registry staff will liaise with the relevant registrar/listings office for a date suitable to the Judge who made the order. Officers from Corrections or Territory Families are not to contact the listings office.

Setting Aside Conviction or Court Order

(6) Where a defendant or complainant wishes to set aside a conviction or Court order under section 63A of the *Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928*, the defendant or complainant shall complete and file an Application to Set Aside Conviction or Order form. This form can be found on the Local Court website.

Practice Direction 2C Callover Procedure in Darwin

- (1) The purpose of this Practice Direction is to facilitate the more effective, expeditious and efficient conduct of matters listed in the Local Court 1 at Nichols Place, Darwin by transferring as soon as practicable lengthy matters from that court to another court.
- (2) The call over will be conducted each morning at 9.30am Monday to Friday by a judge (who will usually be the Judge assigned to the Court 1 list that day). This facility will be available to defendants, their legal representatives and prosecutors who wish to mention a matter prior to 10.00am.
- (3) The following procedures are to be followed at the callover:
 - (a) The presiding Judge will deal with any applications for adjournment. If a matter is to be adjourned for a plea of guilty it is to be listed in the 9.30am callover list on the adjourned date. Otherwise, the matter is to be adjourned for a directions hearing in accordance with section 60Al of the *Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928*.
 - (b) If a defendant intends to plead guilty on the day of the callover the matter should be stood down until 10.00 am in the Court 1 list. The presiding Judge should inquire as to the likely length of the plea. If the plea is likely to be lengthy the matter should as soon as practicable be transferred to another court to achieve the purpose of the practice direction.
 - (c) If a defendant intends to apply for bail the presiding Judge should inquire as to the likely length of the bail application. If the application is likely to be lengthy the matter should as soon as practicable be transferred to another court to achieve the purpose of the practice direction.

Practice Direction 2D Applications for Interim Orders under the Child Protection (Offender Reporting and Registration) Act 2004

- (1) Section 76 of the Child Protection (Offender Reporting and Registration) Act 2004 ('the Act') allows a police officer to apply to the Youth Justice Court (in the case of a young reportable offender) or the Local Court (in the case of an adult reportable offender) for an interim protection order. The application may be made to a Local Court Judge either in person or by telephone.
- (2) The Act and regulations do not provide for a procedure to apply in relation to such applications. The following procedure will apply.

Procedure

- (3) When a police officer wishes to make an application under section 76, the officer shall complete an Application for Interim Child Protection (Offender Reporting and Registration) Order Form. This form can be found at on the <u>Local Court website</u>. The officer shall then call or attend upon:
 - (a) a judge in the nearest courthouse (if during business hours), or
 - (b) by phone upon a judge on call (if outside business hours).
- (4) The police officer shall produce to the Judge information in writing if possible or orally if necessary in relation to the grounds for the application.
- (5) The Judge shall record the information provided by the applicant.
- (6) If the Judge makes the interim order as requested that order shall be recorded using the Interim Child Protection (Offender Reporting and Registration) Order Form. This form can be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>.
- (7) The order shall also be endorsed with a date and time for the application to be reviewed by the Court at the earliest possible date before the most convenient venue of the Court in relation to the location of the person subject to the order.
- (8) Upon making the order the police officer shall forward a copy of the order and any supporting information to the relevant registrar on the next business day to enable a file to be created.

Practice Direction 2E Persons in the Custody of the Court and Surrender Warrants

- (1) When a defendant is properly before the Court they are in the custody of the Court. This is so whether they:
 - (a) are brought to the court cells by the police or corrections authorities,
 - (b) answer their bail undertaking to appear,
 - (c) surrender themselves to the court when a warrant is outstanding, or
 - (d) answer a summons.
- (2) Persons in the custody of the Court are not to be permitted to leave the court complex until they are discharged or have satisfied the Court's requirements for release.
- (3) Unless ordered otherwise by the Court, a person in the custody of the Court must remain under the supervision of the Court and its officers and obey their directions.
- (4) Persons in the custody of the Local Court shall, upon being granted conditional orders of release, bail or amended bail conditions, be taken to and held in the cells or rooms reserved for the purpose to enable all conditions for their release to be satisfied.
- (5) The Court may (with or without request), make specific arrangements in relation to any individual defendant.

Procedure in Relation to Surrender of Persons on Warrant

- (6) A person who wishes to surrender to the Court on an outstanding warrant must complete a Surrender on Warrant Form. This form can be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>.
- (7) The person will be informed by court staff that if he or she leaves or attempts to leave the Court before the matter has been dealt with, he or she will be liable to be arrested as any warrant will remain in force at that stage.
- (8) Court staff will notify the prosecution of a person who has surrendered him or herself to the Court by sending a copy of the completed form by email to the generic email of the relevant prosecutions office or by handing the completed form to the prosecution in circuit courts.
- (9) No application may be made to set aside an outstanding warrant in such a case until the defendant appears before the Court for further disposition in relation to custody or bail.

Practice Direction 2F Prisoners at Risk of Harm

- (1) The purpose of this Practice Direction is to regulate the practice and procedure in relation to persons who may be at risk of harm if remanded into custody or sentenced or committed to a term of imprisonment.
- (2) For the purposes of this Practice Direction a person may be at risk of harm if he or she is:
 - (a) at risk of self-harm; or
 - (b) at risk of harm from a medical or physical condition; or
 - (c) at risk of harm from another prisoner or prisoners.

At Risk of Self-Harm

- (3) A person is considered to be at risk of self-harm if he or she is:
 - (a) suicidal or suspected of being suicidal;
 - (b) mentally ill or mentally disturbed (as defined under the *Mental Health and Related Services Act 1998*) or appears to be mentally ill or mentally disturbed;
 - (c) emotionally disturbed; or
 - (d) suffering from any other mental condition that the Court considers poses a significant risk to the person's mental health or medical/mental health advice indicates that 24 hour observation and "at risk" status are required.

At Risk of Harm from a Medical or Physical Condition

- (4) A person is considered to be at risk of harm from a medical or physical condition if he or she is:
 - (a) suffering from serious health problems or post-operative trauma;
 - (b) suffering, or likely to suffer, from severe alcohol or drug withdrawal symptoms; or
 - (c) suffering from any other condition that the Court or medical advice considers poses a significant risk to the person's physical health such that 24 hour observation and "at risk" status are required.

At Risk of Harm from Another Prisoner or Prisoners

(5) A person is considered to be at risk of harm from another prisoner or prisoners if he or she is at a significant risk to their physical health from that prisoner or prisoners.

Part 2 LOCAL COURT (CRIMINAL DIVISION) PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 2F Prisoners at Risk of Harm

Procedure

- (6) Where there is information available to a prosecutor or counsel for a defendant indicating that a person may be at risk of harm of self-harm, at risk of harm from a medical or physical condition or at risk of harm from another prisoner or prisoners if that person is remanded into custody or sentenced or committed to a term of imprisonment, that information should be disclosed to the Court as soon as possible.
- (7) Such information may be in writing by way of the Prisoner at Risk Order or verbally during court proceedings. Information be disclosed to the Court in the absence of the person.
- (8) Where such information is disclosed to the Court, it may order that:
 - (a) the defendant may be at risk in one or more of the respects referred to in 2F(2); and
 - (b) all persons responsible for the custody of the defendant be advised that the defendant may be at risk in one or more of those respects and be provided with the information available to the Court in relation to the defendant's "at risk" status, including relevant medical or psychological reports.
- (9) Where the Court makes an order under 2F(8), the presiding Judge must sign an order using the Prisoner at Risk Order and place it on the court file. This form can be found on the <u>Local</u> Court website.
- (10) Where the Court makes an order under 2F(8):
 - (a) the Registrar or their delegates shall notify all persons responsible for the defendant's custody of the "at risk" status of the defendant and relevant information to be communicated to by telephone, email or any combination thereof;
 - (b) an urgent transcript of proceedings and any reasons shall be ordered and forwarded to the officers responsible for the defendant's custody;
 - (c) court officers shall endorse the remand warrant or warrant of commitment to prison with the words at "risk of self-harm", or "at risk of harm from a medical or physical condition" or "at risk of harm from another prisoner or prisoners" – whichever is applicable; and
 - (d) the officers responsible for the defendant's custody shall ensure that the defendant is not left unsupervised whilst in the custody of the Court.

Practice Direction 2G Procedures During and Following Preliminary Examination (Committal)

(1) The purpose of this Practice Direction is to establish procedures for the timely and efficient conduct of preliminary examinations in both the Local Court and the Youth Justice Court, and the transition to the Supreme Court call over system regulated by Supreme Court Practice Direction 3 of 2016.

Matters capable of being dealt with summarily under Part IV Division 2 of the *Local Court* (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928

- (2) The Court will seek to determine at the earliest opportunity whether a matter is capable of being dealt with summarily. Parties should be prepared to address the Court on the first mention where possible. Where necessary, the matter will be adjourned for fourteen days for determination by the Local Court Judge as to whether the matters will be dealt with on indictment or summarily.
- (3) If on the adjourned date the Court does not determine to deal with the matter summarily, the matter is to proceed in accordance with Practice Direction 2G(5).
- (4) If on the adjourned date the Court does determine to deal with the matter summarily, the matter proceeds in the usual summary manner.

Strictly indictable matters not capable of being dealt with summarily

- (5) On first date in the Local Court or the Youth Justice Court, an order will be made for the filing and service of a committal brief in accordance with section 105C and section 105D of the Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928.
- (6) The order will depend on the nature of the brief and will be either a brief service order or an extended brief service order.

Brief Service Order

(7) Where the Prosecution does not seek an extended brief service order or the Court is not satisfied that such an order should be made, the Court will order service of the brief in no less than six weeks. In such a case, the matter will be adjourned to the preliminary examination list on a date no less than fourteen days after the date for service of the brief.

Extended Brief Service Order

(8) An extended brief service order will generally only be made when the Prosecution intends to rely on evidence of drug analysis, DNA or fingerprints or where the Court is informed that other evidence is required that justifies the making of an extended brief service order. Such evidence may include medical evidence, telephone intercepts or listening device transcripts, translations, computer analysis evidence, business record affidavits and/or evidence from overseas.

Part 2 LOCAL COURT (CRIMINAL DIVISION) PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 2G Procedures During and Following Preliminary Examination (Committal)

- (9) If the Prosecution seeks an extended brief service order, it must inform the defendant and the Court of the categories of evidence that cannot be obtained within six weeks and the date the evidence is expected to be obtained.
- (10) The Court may make an extended brief service order if it is satisfied that the brief is to include evidence that cannot be obtained within six weeks.
- (11) An extended brief service order will include that:
 - (a) the brief, excluding the evidence referred to above, be served in no less than six weeks
 - (b) the brief, including the evidence referred to above, be served in no less than twelve weeks or at such other time as is considered by the court to be reasonable and necessary for the prosecution to obtain that evidence
- (12) An extended brief service order will not override the necessity under the Sexual Offences (Evidence and Procedure) Act 1938 for a preliminary investigation for a sexual offence to be commenced within three months of the first mention in court.
- (13) Where an extended brief service order is made, the court will adjourn the matter to the preliminary examination list on a date no less than fourteen days after the latest date for service in the extended brief service order.
- (14) The Prosecution is to ensure that the officer in charge of the matter is notified not more than 72 hours after any order for the service of the brief is made of the need to prepare a brief for service on a defendant.

Preliminary Examination List

- (15) On the first mention in the preliminary examination list, the Prosecution is to confirm that the brief has been served.
- (16) On the first mention in the preliminary examination list, if the defendant indicates a plea of guilty to an indictable matter, the plea may be entered and the defendant committed for sentence to the Supreme Court following the procedure set out in Part III, Division 3 of the *Local Court Act 2016.*
- (17) If the matter is to proceed to a preliminary hearing, the defendant is to file a Notice in Relation to Witnesses Form at the first preliminary examination mention. This form can be found on the Local Court website.
- (18) If the defendant indicates in the Notice that he or she wishes the matter to proceed directly to preliminary examination without any application for leave to cross-examine any witness, the matter will be adjourned for not less than fourteen days for a "hand up" committal in the preliminary examination list.
- (19) If it is indicated in the Notice that an application for leave to cross-examine a witness is to be made, the matter will be adjourned for not less than fourteen days in the preliminary examination list.

(20) If a matter is adjourned under 2G(19), at the adjourned date, the Prosecution is to complete and file the Response section in the Notice in Relation to Witnesses. If all, or part of the application for leave is opposed by the Prosecution, the application for leave will be determined by the Court on that day. If leave is granted and the length of the preliminary examination ascertained, a date for preliminary examination will be set before the presiding Judge. If leave is not granted for the cross-examination of witnesses, the preliminary examination will proceed as a "hand up" committal on this date.

Joint Preliminary Examinations

- (21) If either party proposes to make an application to separate a joint preliminary examination of an adult and youth defendant, notice must be given prior to the first mention in the preliminary examination list. Such applications are to be heard by the presiding Judge on the first mention in the preliminary examination list. If the application is granted, each matter will be adjourned for not less than two weeks to the preliminary examination list and the youth justice hearing list respectively.
- (22) On the adjourned date, the matter will proceed as a preliminary examination unless the defendant has given Notice following the procedure set out in 2G(19) that he or she wishes to make application for leave to cross-examine a witness. That application will be expected to be heard on the adjourned date in the preliminary examination list or the youth justice hearing list.

Circuit Courts

(23) Where matters requiring a preliminary examination are listed in a circuit court, the presiding Judge may give directions as to service of the committal brief and for the listing of applications to disjoin adult and youth defendants or for leave to cross examine witnesses that are consistent with these directions but modified to take into account the frequency of sitting of that circuit.

Preliminary Examination Hearings

(24) Subject to the interests of justice, committal proceedings are to be completed as expeditiously as possible to enable the transfer, if appropriate, of the cases to the Supreme Court.

Adjournments

(25) No variations of the above procedural timetable will be granted unless compelling circumstances exist in the interest of justice.

Procedure Following Committal

(26) The Local Court or Youth Justice Court will commit the defendant to stand trial in the Supreme Court and ordinarily direct the defendant to appear at the first scheduled criminal call-over in the Supreme Court after 28 days from the date of the committal. This is subject to the discretion of the committing Judge.

Part 2 LOCAL COURT (CRIMINAL DIVISION) PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 2G Procedures During and Following Preliminary Examination (Committal)

- (27) In accordance with section 112 of the *Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928*, the committing Judge will either grant the defendant bail or remand the defendant in custody. If the defendant is represented and the Director of Public Prosecutions consents, the committing Judge may excuse the defendant from attendance at the criminal call-over.
- (28) If the defendant is excused from attendance at the criminal call-over, the committing Judge will cause a record of the direction to be made in writing. This record is to form part of the documents required to be transmitted to the Supreme Court upon committal for trial pursuant to section 116 of the *Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928*.

Practice Direction 2H Transmission of Summary Offence

(1) Section 390 of the Criminal Code 1983 (the Code) provides that where an indictment has been presented against a person and the person has been charged with a summary offence and that person wishes to have the charge of the summary offence heard and determined by the Supreme Court under section 389 of the Code, the person may apply to the a registrar of the Local Court to transmit the charge to a registrar of the Supreme Court.

The Prescribed Form

- (2) All applications to transmit a summary charge to the Supreme Court must be made by completing an Application to Transmit Summary Charge to the Supreme Court Form and lodging it with a registrar of the Local Court. This form can be found on the <u>Local Court</u> website.
- (3) In accordance with section 390(4) of the Code the Registrar of the Local Court must transmit the charge to a registrar of the Supreme Court if satisfied:
 - (a) The application has been duly completed; and
 - (b) The Local Court has not started hearing sentencing submissions in relation to the charge.

Practice Direction 2I Custody Audio Visual Link Mentions

(1) The purpose of this Practice Direction is to extend the use of the video-link facilities to a greater number of cases in the Local Court and the Youth Justice Court.

Procedure

- (2) All defendants in custody will appear in person on the first occasion in court, unless arrangements are made by the defendant's legal representative through the registry for a video-link appearance.
- (3) If a defendant is remanded in custody, the Local Court Judge should specifically consider whether the next appearance is to be via video-link and record the order made in this regard.
- (4) If an order is made for the defendant to appear by video-link, this order can only be varied by a judge following the procedure set out in 2I(5).

Applications to Vary Court Order

- (5) Applications for a defendant to appear in person must be made by 3.00 pm on the day prior to the mention by emailing a completed Application for Personal Appearance Form to the relevant registry. Registry will bring the application to the attention of a judge in Chambers. This form can be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>.
- (6) A decision whether a defendant is to appear in person will be made as soon as practicable and the registry will advise the lawyer of the outcome via email. The registry will also be responsible for notifying corrections and issuing any Notice of Call Up.
- (7) Arrangements to appear via video-link instead of in person (as previously ordered by a Local Court Judge) can be made by the legal representative contacting the registry.

Allocated Times for Video-Link

(8) Mentions via video-link will occur as a block at set times. The video-link list will take place at the times and in locations as set out, or as otherwise directed by the Chief Judge.

General Matters

(9) Where an interpreter is required to assist a defendant, the decision as to whether the interpreter should be based with the defendant at the correctional centre or detention centre or with the lawyer in court, is to be made by the legal practitioner.

Practice Direction 2J Directions Hearings

- (1) This practice direction provides a procedure for the conduct of directions hearings pursuant to Division 2A of the *Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928* ('the Act'). The procedures are in furtherance of the objects of the Division to provide for fair, efficient, expeditious and economical case management procedures in the criminal jurisdiction.
- (2) This Practice Direction applies to all places in which the Local Court sits. It does not derogate from the requirements of all parties in relation to disclosure and procedure pursuant to the Act.
- (3) Prior to or at a Directions Hearing the parties shall file a jointly signed Directions Hearing Information Form. This form can be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>.
- (4) If insufficient information is available for the parties to complete the form, the Directions Hearing shall be adjourned for sufficient time to enable completion. Further orders may be made by the Court to enable the progress of the matter.
- (5) The form should be completed with due care and consideration by the practitioner with carriage of the matter where possible.
- (6) No hearing date shall be allocated until the filing of the completed information form.
- (7) The Court may proceed without the completed form only if satisfied there is good reason to do so.

Part 3 LOCAL COURT (CIVIL DIVISION)	AND WORK HEALTH COURT PRACTICE
DIRECTIONS	
Practice Direction 2J Directions Hearings	

Part 3 LOCAL COURT (CIVIL DIVISION) AND WORK HEALTH COURT PRACTICE DIRECTIONS

The following Practice Directions are issued pursuant to section 49 (1) of the Local Court Act and section 31(3) of the Work Health Administration Act and will commence from 30 September 2019.

Practice Direction 3A Listings and Adjournments

- (1) The Local and Work Health Courts have a responsibility to manage matters and listings in an efficient manner to promote opportunities for negotiated outcomes along with the opportunity for judicial determination in a timely manner.
- (2) This Practice Direction seeks to establish the procedure for listing a matter for Hearing, the considerations if an application is made to adjourn a listed Hearing and the process for vacating Hearing dates where a matter has settled by consent.

Listing a Matter for Hearing

- (3) Matters will not be fixed for Hearing unless the parties attend a pre-hearing conference pursuant to Rule 32.06 of the Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules 1998 or Rule 7.11 of the Work Health Court Rules 1999 and satisfy the Court that the matter is ready for Hearing. The parties must provide the Court with a duly completed Case Management Statement, as required by Rules 32.05 and 7.09 respectively.
- (4) Parties must ascertain and communicate to the Court the availability of witnesses and legal representatives (including counsel) and the estimated length of the Hearing before Hearing dates are allocated.
- (5) Matters are fixed for Hearing on the basis that the Hearing will proceed on the day or days fixed.
- (6) In the Work Health Court, matters will be allocated a first listing date and a second listing date and parties should ensure matters are ready to proceed on both the first and second listing dates.

Adjourning a Hearing

- (7) An application to adjourn Hearing dates will not be granted unless there are good reasons to justify the adjournment. Unavailability of counsel is not generally a sufficient reason for an adjournment to be granted as availability of counsel should have been known at the time of listing.
- (8) The consent of the other party to an adjournment does not guarantee an adjournment will be granted.
- (9) An application for an adjournment must be made at the earliest possible opportunity. The application is to be made in writing to the Judge to whom the matter has been allocated for hearing (the Hearing Judge) or to the Managing Work Health Court Judge, in the event that the matter has not been allocated to a judge, or the Hearing Judge is not available to consider the adjournment application.
- (10) The application must set out the reasons for the adjournment and be signed by the person or legal representative seeking the adjournment. The application must be accompanied by

Part 3 LOCAL COURT (CIVIL DIVISION) AND WORK HEALTH COURT PRACTICE DIRECTIONS

Practice Direction 3A Listings and Adjournments

- any documents that support the reasons for seeking an adjournment. The adjournment application must be provided to the other party.
- (11) The decision to grant an adjournment is at the sole discretion of the allocated Judge (or in their absence another judicial officer) and can be made in Chambers or may require parties to attend a further Directions Conference to consider the application. The closer the application for adjournment is made to the listed Hearing dates, the more compelling and exceptional the circumstances will be required for the adjournment to be granted.
- (12) If an adjournment is granted, the matter will be re-listed for hearing as soon as possible before the Hearing Judge, or if at the time the adjournment is granted the matter has not been allocated to a judge, to an available judge or the Judicial Registrar for further case management.
- (13) The Court may grant an adjournment upon such conditions as it thinks fit, including the making of a costs order.

Vacating Hearing Dates

- (14) In the event a matter listed for Hearing settles and the trial dates are no longer required, parties should communicate confirmation of the settlement to the Court in a timely manner to enable the vacating and reallocation of Hearing dates, where possible. In the event a matter listed for Hearing resolves and the trial dates are no longer required, parties should communicate confirmation of the settlement to the Court. Notice should be given, in writing, to the Civil Registry at the relevant Court (DLC.CivilRegistry@nt.gov.au and DLC.CivilRegistry@nt.gov.au Alice Springs).
- (15) When notice of resolution is received, it will be bought to the Hearing Judge's attention and the Judge will determine, in Chambers, whether the matter should be called on for Mention or the Hearing dates vacated. This is at the sole discretion of the allocated Hearing Judge and parties should be prepared to appear before the Court, if required.
- (16) If a determination is made that dates are to be vacated the Hearing Judge or the Judicial Registrar will issue orders vacating the Hearing dates. If, in the Work Health Court, there is a second listed Hearing on the relevant dates, orders will also issue confirming the previously second listed Hearing is now first listed.
- (17) In matters where Hearing dates are vacated and a Notice of Discontinuance has yet to be filed, the matter will be listed for Internal Review before the Hearing Judge or Judicial Registrar, eight weeks from the date of the vacating orders.

Practice Direction 3B Section 102AA Motor Vehicles Act 1949 – Application for Driving Licence

Practice Direction 3B Section 102AA *Motor Vehicles Act 1949* – Application for Driving Licence

- (1) Section 102AA of the Motor Vehicles Act 1949 provides that following the completion of disqualification periods imposed for drink driving offences under section 21 and 29AAA of the Traffic Act 1987, in certain circumstances specified in that section, a person must obtain the approval of the Local Court in order to apply for a licence.
- (2) An application to the Registrar of Motor Vehicles under section 102AA is made using the Application for Leave to Apply for a Licence to Drive Form. This form can be found on the Local Court website.
- (3) The application is to be accompanied by an Affidavit Supporting Application for Leave to Apply for a Licence to Drive. This form can be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>. The affidavit shall include the following matters:
 - (a) the offence, date of sentence, the sentence and period of disqualification imposed;
 - (b) the circumstances of the offending;
 - (c) any prior or subsequent offences committed by the applicant which relate to the consumption of alcohol;
 - (d) any courses, programs and/or treatment that have been undertaken by the applicant; and
 - (e) any medical or other evidence relevant to an assessment of the applicant's fitness to hold a licence.
- (4) A sealed copy of the application and affidavit must be served on the Registrar of Motor Vehicles and the Commissioner of the Northern Territory Police Force no later than 14 days before the hearing of the application.

Practice Direction 3C Case Flow Management

- (1) The purpose of this Practice Direction is to establish a case management process for matters in the Local Court and the Work Health Court that have been listed for Hearing by the Judicial Registrar and have been allocated to a judge for hearing (Hearing Judge). The objective of case management is to ensure the fair, effective, complete, prompt and economical determination of a matter.
- (2) The parties and their legal representatives are expected to have full knowledge of the proceedings and options for settlement, and be prepared to enter negotiations to settle the proceedings.
- (3) During the case management process, the parties and their legal representatives must be able to indicate to the Hearing Judge:
 - (a) the issues of fact and law, and if required by the Hearing Judge in a Work Health Court matter, are to file a joint memorandum of issues (as provided for in Rule 7.11 of the Work Health Court Rules 1999);
 - (b) any amendments to the pleadings that are necessary for determining the real questions at issue between the parties;
 - (c) any changes in the content of the case management statement provided to the Judicial Registrar prior to the fixing of the matter for hearing;
 - (d) any matters connected with the case management statement that may be of interest or concern to the Hearing Judge;
 - (e) any procedural steps that need to be taken before the hearing of the matter;
 - (f) any other matter that might affect the readiness of the matter to proceed to hearing on the fixed date;
 - (g) details of medical or expert reports to be relied on, the number of witnesses, both expert and non-expert, and the estimated length of the hearing of the matter;
 - (h) arrangements for communication links;
 - (i) any proposed summonses to witnesses or for production of documents to be served either within or outside of the Northern Territory;
 - (j) whether counsel has been briefed or an advice on evidence has been obtained; and
 - (k) any other information required to be provided to the Court by the Hearing Judge.
- (4) The manner in which the Hearing Judge is to case manage a file is within his or her discretion. The Judge may make whatever directions or orders he or she considers appropriate.

Part 3 LOCAL COURT (CIVIL DIVISION) AND WORK HEALTH COURT PRACTICE DIRECTIONS

Practice Direction 3C Case Flow Management

- (5) Parties and their legal representatives should be aware of the Practice Direction about application for adjournment of Hearings in the Work Health Court and the circumstances under which adjournments will be granted.
- (6) Parties who are legally represented are required to provide to the Hearing Judge and the other party a list of authorities on which they intend to rely at the hearing no later than five working days before the hearing or within such other time directed by the Hearing Judge.

Restrictions on Medical Evidence post listing for Hearing

- (7) Once a matter has been allocated Hearing dates in the Work Health Court parties shall not engage any new medical experts for the provision of Independent Medical Examinations without leave of the Court.
- (8) Parties do not require leave of the Court to obtain any further opinion, addendum or supplementary report from a medical professional or expert who has previously provided medical evidence which the party intends to rely upon.
- (9) In considering whether leave may be granted for the engagement of a new medical expert, or other report writer, consideration shall be given to:
 - (a) The length of time prior to the commencement of the Hearing;
 - (b) The evidence currently available to the parties;
 - (c) The availability of any experts previously engaged to provide evidence of a like nature;
 - (d) The degree of any prejudice to the other party should leave be granted;
 - (e) Whether a new medical issue has arisen since the Hearing dates have been allocated.

Practice Direction 3D Appearances and Ceasing to Act

(1) This Practice Direction provides the procedure to be adopted for parties to appoint or change a legal practitioner or for a legal practitioner to cease to act. The appointment and changing of legal practitioners is governed by Part 40 of the *Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction)*Rules 1998 and Part 24 of the Work Health Court Rules 1999.

Appointment of a Legal Practitioner

(2) Pursuant to Rule 40.02(1) of the *Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules 1998* and Rule 24.02(1) of the *Work Health Court Rules 1999* a party appointing a legal practitioner to act on their behalf, must file a Notice of Appointment of a Legal Practitioner Form without delay. This form can be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>.

Change in Legal Practitioner

(3) Pursuant to Rule 40.01(1) of the *Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules 1998* and Rule 24.01 of the *Work Health Court Rules 1999* a party changing the legal practitioner acting on their behalf, must file a Notice of Change of a Legal Practitioner without delay. This form can be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>.

Ceasing to Act as Legal Practitioner

- (4) Pursuant to Rule 40.03(1) of the Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules 1998 and Rule 24.03 (1) of the Work Health Court Rules 1999 when a legal practitioner ceases to act for a party they must file a Notice of Ceasing to Act without delay. This form can be found on the Local Court website.
- (5) Pursuant to Rule 40.03(3) of the *Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules 1998* and Rule 24.03(3) of the *Work Health Court Rules 1999* the leave of the Court is required when a legal practitioner wishes to file a notice to cease to act later than 56 days before the hearing of a proceeding.
- (6) An application for leave is to be made by interlocutory application supported by an affidavit containing:
 - (a) A statement of the circumstances that have arisen that would support leave to cease acting;
 - (b) Evidence of the practitioner having notified the client of their intention to cease acting;
 - (c) Evidence of the practitioner having notified the client of the Hearing date and any directions regarding same;
 - (d) The client's last known address, telephone number, postal address and email address;
 - (e) A draft Notice of Ceasing to Act; and
 - (f) A statement as to any other matter as directed by the Court.

Part 3 LOCAL COURT (CIVIL DIVISION) AND WORK HEALTH COURT PRACTICE DIRECTIONS

Practice Direction 3D Appearances and Ceasing to Act

- (7) Where the current address of the party for whom the legal practitioner acts is known, that party must be served with a copy of the application and affidavit.
- (8) The application will be listed before the allocated hearing Judge within 72 hours or, if no Local Court Judge has been allocated the Hearing or the Hearing Judge is not available, before another judicial officer.

Practice Direction 3E Criminal Property Forfeiture Act 2002

(1) The purpose of this practice direction is to regulate the procedures for applications for orders under *Criminal Property Forfeiture Act 2002* ('the Act').

Section 40 Interim Orders

- (2) An application pursuant to section 40 should be by way of Form 4 of the *Criminal Property Forfeiture Regulations 2003*. That application should be accompanied by a sworn declaration or affidavit by the officer concerned setting out the facts upon which they wish to rely.
- (3) The civil registry will keep a copy of the application, supporting documentation and the interim order in a register kept at the court.
- (4) Upon the applicant then making an application under section 41 & 43 of the Act the application and supporting documentation along with the interim order will be transferred to the court file.
- (5) If the application is made by phone to a judge, the following procedure applies:
 - (a) The applicant should electronically send to the Judge a copy of the application, any supporting documentation and draft order to the court.
 - (b) The applicant will make an affirmation as to the truth of the facts relied upon. If the order is made the applicant shall complete their copy of the application in the same manner as the Judge.
 - (c) If the applicant is unable to fax or email a copy of the application to the Judge the information shall be provided to the court over the phone and the applicant and the court shall complete the Form 4 with the same words each endorsing their own copies. The applicant shall then provide the court with the original affirmed declaration as soon as possible.

Section 43 Applications

- (6) An application pursuant to section 43 should be by way of Form 7E of the *Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules 1998* if the application is to be ex parte and Form 7F if the application is to be inter parte.
- (7) The application should be made as soon as possible as the interim restraining order will lapse within 72 hours or before the application can be heard by the Court.
- (8) The application should be accompanied by an affidavit stating all matters relied upon including the facts which establish that there are reasonable grounds to believe that the property is crime derived or crime used and the connection between the property and any respondent to the application.

Part 3 LOCAL COURT (CIVIL DIVISION) AND WORK HEALTH COURT PRACTICE DIRECTIONS

Practice Direction 3E Criminal Property Forfeiture Act 2002

- (9) If the application is inter parte the application should be served with a copy of the original application for interim order and any supporting affidavits. After service, Part 7 Division 2 of the *Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules 1998* shall apply.
- (10) Should the application for restraining order be ex parte then the first mention will be before a judge. At that first mention a restraining ordered can be made.
- (11) Once the restraining order is issued then it is up to the applicant to serve any interested parties with a copy of the order.

Section 59 Notice of Objection

- (12) Any person can file a *Notice of Objection* to an order made under section 43 of the Act. Once served with a restraining order, a person has 28 days to lodge an objection.
- (13) The form of objection should be in the form of an interlocutory application with an affidavit in support setting out the facts to establish grounds as set out in sections 63, 64, 65 or 66 of the Act. Rule 25 *Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction)* 1998 shall apply to these applications.
- (14) The interlocutory application must be served on the Territory and any other interested party and will be listed in the usual manner unless expressly urgent.
- (15) At the first return date of the interlocutory application, the Court can either hear the application or refer the matter to a Judicial Registrar for further case management.

Section 95 Application for Forfeiture

- (16) The application for forfeiture shall be by way of interlocutory application in the same file as the application for restraining order. It cannot be included in the originating application because of the restrictions placed on the court by the legislation.
- (17) The application for forfeiture can only be filed once the 28 days for objection has run. The application will be listed on the next available date and will be heard on the papers.
- (18) If an objection has been filed then an application for forfeiture can be filed but will not be dealt with until after the objection hearing has been dealt with. In these circumstances the applicant should file the application for forfeiture to be heard at the same time as the objection hearing.

Practice Direction 3F Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (Cth)

(1) The purpose of this practice direction is to regulate the procedures in relation to the exercise of the Court's jurisdiction under the *Proceeds of Crimes Act 2002 (Cth)* ('the Act') to hear and determine applications for a restraining order and forfeiture in relation to matters where there has been a conviction in respect of a Commonwealth offence.

Section 17 Applications – Restraining Orders

- (2) An application for a restraining order pursuant to section 17 of the Act shall be in the form of an originating application (Form 7E) with a supporting affidavit from an "authorised officer" as defined in section 338 of *the Act*.
- (3) Any person who the Director of Public Prosecutions believes may have an interest in the property shall be notified by the Director of Public Prosecutions of the application. The notice shall be by way of serving a copy of the application and supporting affidavit upon that person prior to the return date of that application.
- (4) The application once filed will be listed together with the prosecution of the criminal matter in the Local Court so that if a conviction is obtained the prosecution can then apply for the restraining order at the time of the conviction.

Section 48 Applications – Forfeiture Orders

- (5) Six months after a conviction is obtained an application for forfeiture can be made.
- (6) An application can take two forms:
 - (a) If there has been a previous application for restraining order then the application for forfeiture should be an interlocutory application (Form 25A) within that original proceeding.
 - (b) If there is no restraining order then the application should be by way of Originating Application (Form 7E) with supporting affidavit.

Service of Applications – Restraining Orders and Forfeiture Orders

(7) Sections 26 and 61 of the Act require the Director of Public Prosecutions to give notice to the owner of the property and any other interested parties of the application. Written notice of the application accompanied by a copy of the application and any affidavits in support must be given prior to the hearing of the application.

Objections – Restraining Orders and Forfeiture Orders

(8) A person with an interest in the property can appear at the Hearing of the application for restraining order or forfeiture.

Part 3 LOCAL COURT (CIVIL DIVISION) AND WORK HEALTH COURT PRACTICE DIRECTIONS

Practice Direction 3F Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (Cth)

- (9) A person who wishes to appear should file a Notice of Intention to Appear (Form 7D) with a supporting affidavit as to the ownership of the property and any evidence to establish that the property is not the proceeds of crime or an instrument of crime.
- (10) Where an appearance is filed in relation to an application for restraining order then the objection to the order can be dealt with immediately upon conviction or be referred by the Local Court Judge to the Judicial Registrar for case management if required.
- (11) If an application for forfeiture is made by way of Originating Application then an interested party can file an appearance with the Court and the matter will be set down for a prehearing conference before a registrar for case management prior to the matter being set down for hearing.

Part 3 LOCAL COURT (CIVIL DIVISION) AND WORK HEALTH COURT PRACTICE DIRECTIONS

Practice Direction 3G Powers of Judicial Registrar

Practice Direction 3G Powers of Judicial Registrar

- (1) The Local Court Act 2015 sections 69 and 70 sets out the functions and powers of a judicial registrar in the Local Court. Section 23(2)(a) of the Work Health Administration Act 2011 provides that a judicial registrar may exercise such powers of the Court as are determined by the Chief Judge.
- (2) The Judicial Registrar of the Local and Work Health Court may exercise all powers of the Court except the following powers:
 - (a) To hear and determine a matter.
 - (b) To hear and determine an application for summary judgment.
 - (c) To make an assessment of compensation under Part 21 of the *Work Health Court Rules 1999*.

Part 4 CHILDREN'S COURT PRACTICE DIRECTIONS

The following Practice Directions are issued pursuant to section 49 (1) of the Local Court Act 2015 and section 53(1)(b) of the Youth Justice Act 2005 and will commence from 15 September 2020.

Note that the follow practice directions also apply in the Children's Court:

Practice Direction 2B	Applications for Breaches, Reviews, Variations or Setting Aside	.16
Practice Direction 2C	Callover Procedure in Darwin	.17
Practice Direction 2D	Applications - Child Protection (Offender Reporting And Registration) .	.18
Practice Direction 2E	Persons in the Custody of the Court and Surrender Warrants	.19
Practice Direction 2F	Prisoners at Risk of Harm	.20
Practice Direction 2G	Procedures During & Following Preliminary Examination (Committal) .	.22
Practice Direction 2H	Transmission of Summary Offence	.26
Practice Direction 2I	Custody Audio Visual Link Mentions	.27

Practice Direction 4A Family Responsibility Orders

Application

- (1) An application for an inquiry pursuant to section 140G of the *Youth Justice Act 2005* shall be in the form of Form 15A of Schedule 2 of the *Youth Justice Regulations 2006*.
- (2) An application shall be supported by an affidavit of the authorised officer of the appropriate agency or a police officer.
- (3) An application must be filed with the Court and once endorsed with a date and time for the first mention date, must be served on the parents of the youth subject to the inquiry or any other person with parental responsibility for the youth, unless they are unable to be served.
- (4) At the first mention date, the Court may make directions for the case management of the inquiry including:
 - (a) Who is to be served with a summons to attend an inquiry;
 - (b) What reports are required at the inquiry;
 - (c) What affidavit evidence is required by the Court;
 - (d) What assessments are required for presentation at the inquiry.
- (5) Any summons to require a person's attendance at an inquiry shall use the Summons to Appear at Inquiry Form and shall be served personally. This form can be found on the <u>Local</u> Court website.
- (6) After the completion of the inquiry, should the Court decide if a family responsibility order is necessary, the order shall be in the form of Form 15B of Schedule 2 of the *Youth Justice Regulations 2006.*

Application for Variation or Revocation of Order

- (7) Any application to vary or revoke a family responsibility order shall be made using an Application for Revocation or Variation of Family Responsibility Order Form. This form can be found on the Local Court website.
- (8) An application for variation or revocation of an order must be served on all parties to the original application and upon other interested parties as the Court may direct.
- (9) The application must be supported by an affidavit setting out the facts relied upon for the revocation/variation.

Practice Direction 4B Referrals for Pre-Sentence Conferences

(1) The purpose of this practice direction is to regulate the procedure to be followed when the Youth Court orders a pre-sentencing conference pursuant to section 84 of the *Youth Justice Act 2005*.

Court Referral Process

- (2) Where the Court has found a youth guilty of an offence, either on the application of the youth or on the Court's initiative, the proceedings may be adjourned and the youth ordered to participate in either a victim offender conference or a family group conference.
- (3) Where the referral is for a family group conference the Court will state in the referral the persons who are required to attend the conference. Generally those participants may be the youth and his or her responsible adult(s), a police officer as nominated by the Commissioner of Police and an officer of Community Corrections where a pre-sentence report or supervision assessment has also been ordered. Where appropriate in relation to the youth's needs, an officer from the Department of Education should also attend so as to address educational needs and develop an appropriate plan. Where the family is, or is proposed to be, supported by a non-government agency, an officer of that agency should also attend.
- (4) In the case of a victim offender conference the participants are to be the victim, a support person if requested, the youth and his or her responsible adult. Any other proposed participants should be nominated to the Court when the referral is requested.
- (5) The referral should then be made and proceedings adjourned for a period of up to six weeks and listed for sentencing on the adjourned date.
- (6) The referral, together with the agreed facts, names of participants and contact details, criminal history and any tendered documents shall be forwarded by the Court to the nominated convenor of the conference.

Referrals to Pre-Sentencing Conference Providers

- (7) The referral shall occur using the YJC Referral Form. This form can be found on the <u>Local</u> <u>Court website</u>.
- (8) Once appointed via referral, a conference convenor may invite suitable participants to support the pre-sentence conference and its potential outcomes for the youth and victims involved.
- (9) The Court may also from time to time appoint an alternative convenor for a pre-sentence conference if satisfied that the convenor has the proper experience and expertise to conduct a pre-sentence conference.

Part 4 CHILDREN'S COURT PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 4B Referrals for Pre-Sentence Conferences

- (10) Victims nominated by the Court to attend the pre-sentence conference, will initially be contacted by Victims of Crime NT to determine their willingness to participate, and to address any individual needs and concerns they may have.
- (11) Once Victims of Crime NT has provided the list of victims who agree to participate, the convenor will contact and assess the victims and all other parties nominated by the Court, to determine their suitability to take part in the pre-sentence conference.
- (12) Where victims or other persons nominated by the Court do not attend the pre-sentence conference, the Report should include an explanation.

Pre-Sentence Conference Reports

- (13) The convenor must explain to the participants at the conference that he or she is required to report to the Court as to the outcome of the conference. The convenor must also explain that the recommendations from the conference are not binding on the Court in any way and that the Court retains a sentencing discretion under the *Youth Justice Act 2005*.
- (14) The report from the convenor shall include a summary of the conference, including the details of any apology given or other relevant factors as the convenor considers relevant. The conference report shall also include any outcomes that were agreed between the participants that may be appropriate to be undertaken by the youth to demonstrate that:
 - (a) the youth accepts responsibility for the behaviour;
 - (b) the youth has taken steps to make amends with the victims of the offence; and/or
 - (c) the youth will be assisted to be re-integrated into the community.
- (15) The report should be provided to the sentencing court at least 2 days prior to the adjourned date referred to above.

Practice Direction 4C Youth Justice Proceedings

(1) The purpose of this Practice Direction is to establish procedures for the conduct of proceedings in the Youth Justice Court consistent with the General Principles set out in s 4 of the *Youth Justice Act 2005* ('the Act').

Appointment of Youth Judges

(2) The Chief Judge will appoint from time to time, a Local Court Judge, who has the knowledge, qualifications, skills and experience in the law and the social or behavioural sciences and in dealing with youths and their families, as a *Youth Judge*. However each Local Court Judge is a Judge of the Youth Justice Court.

Appearances

- (3) A youth charged with an offence should appear before an appointed *Youth Judge*. Should there be no *Youth Judge* available to deal with the matter a Local Court Judge may deal with the youth.
- (4) The first appearance of any youth in custody will be in person at the Court, unless the youth has advised their counsel or detention centre staff that they do not wish to be conveyed to Court.
- (5) Appearance subsequent to the first appearance shall be by video to the Detention Centre. Appearances should be in person for contested hearings. Other appearance from a detention centre may be by video, unless otherwise ordered by the Court on the request of the youth's counsel.
- (6) Applications for a youth to appear in person must be made by 1.00pm on the day prior to the mention by emailing a completed Application for Personal Appearance Form to the relevant registry. The Registry will bring the application to the attention of a Judge in Chambers. The form can be found at https://localcourt.nt.gov.au/forms-fees#.
- (7) A decision whether a youth is to appear in person will be made as soon as practicable and the registry will advise the lawyer of the outcome via email. The registry will also be responsible for notifying the Detention Centre and issuing any Notice of Call Up.
- (8) Arrangements to appear via video-link instead of in person can be made by the legal counsel contacting the registry.
- (9) Upon arrival at Court, Detention Centre staff will inform the Youth Court Registrar of the presence of the youths in the Court cells. The Registrar will inform the relevant legal agencies and counsel of those in custody.

Court Procedure and Listings

- (10) A Youth Judge may have a callover at the commencement of the proceedings to confirm legal representation of those in custody as well as management of the matters of the day.
- (11) As a general rule, a youth on bail or summons should sit at the bar table next to their counsel. Youths in custody will be seated in the dock or at the side of the Court with a Court guard (if there is no dock). Application may be made to the Court for a youth in custody to sit at the bar table. This should be made in sufficient time for the Court to consult in relation to any security issues and can be made in the youth's absence.
- (12) A responsible adult, as defined in section 5(1) of the Act, including if the child is in care, a representative from the Department of Territory Families, Housing and Communities (TFHC), must attend Court and may sit at the bar table or in the body of the Court. A responsible adult may appear by phone or AVL with the leave of the Court if the Court is satisfied that there are reasonable grounds for them being unavailable to attend Court in person.
- (13) Many of the youths appearing in the Children's Court suffer from a complex array of neurodevelopmental or other disorders, including but not limited to ADHD, FASD, intellectual impairment and complex trauma. To limit exposure to unnecessary auditory stimulation, the Court may be opened by the Court Officer announcing that the Judge is coming on the bench rather than the traditional knocks on the door. Additional breaks or other special arrangements may be granted by the Judge to assist a youth to remain engaged in the proceedings.
- (14) Parties will remain seated during youth proceedings.
- (15) Pleas of guilty, particularly for multiple charges, can be taken through Counsel. Agreed statements of fact can be tendered and exhibited and need not be read aloud in Court. Where there are multiple files, it would assist the Court to be provided a table of all files and charges, with the indicated plea of guilty, signed by both Counsel.
- (16) In compliance with the relevant Act for separation of adult and child proceedings, in Darwin, Katherine and Alice Springs all youth files are to be heard in the designated courtroom for Children's Court. In Katherine, should security issues be raised about bringing a young person in custody into Court, the main courtroom may be used in these circumstances only.
- (17) In other centres and Circuit Courts where only one Courtroom is available, youth files are to be scheduled separately from adult files in a Children's List on a day and time as set out in Appendix A. If a youth is listed to appear on a day not scheduled for youth files, the Court Registry will relist the matter on the Children's List day or time, unless otherwise ordered by the Judge.
- (18) Where an adult has youth files, the listing time and location will be as follows:
 - (a) Youth now an adult, with youth files but no adult files:
 - (i) If in custody and in person Adult Court

- (ii) If over 21 Adult Court
- (iii) If under 21 Children's Court
- (c) Youth now an adult, with adult files plus youth breach file(s): Adult Court
- (d) Youth now an adult, with current youth and adult files:
 - (i) If adult files are serious or the defendant is in custody Adult Court
 - (ii) If adult files are minor (e.g. a charge of breach youth Court bail) and the defendant is not in custody Children's Court
- (e) There will be no movement of persons in custody on the day between Adult and Children's Courts. Any person over 18 years of age cannot be held in designated youth cells.
- (f) Listings of mixed adult/youth files that are complex will be on a case-by-case basis by order of a Judge, bearing in mind that the following factors should be considered:
 - (i) It is preferable for one Judge to sentence across all matters, including breaches, being finalised at the same time; and
 - (ii) A youth or adult defendant should not be under supervision by both Community Corrections and TFHC; and
 - (iii) An adult should not continue to be supervised by TFHC for lengthy periods.

Form of Language in Court

- (18) To assist a youth to engage in the proceedings, they will be referred to by their first name, the name they commonly use, or "Miss" "Ms" or "Mr" if preferred by an older youth.
- (19) Consistent with s 61 and s 123 of the Act all parties should use language in Court that a youth, in accordance with their age, maturity and level of use of English, is likely to understand. This includes a simplified approach to reading the charges.
- (20) Interpreters or other communication support persons will be used as necessary to meet the communication needs of the youth.
- (21) Communication will sometimes be enhanced by the use of pictures instead of, or in addition to, words. "Picture bail" may be granted where this will assist a youth to understand their bail conditions. An example of picture bail is found in **Appendix B**.

Order of Court Reports

(22) To ensure that appropriate and adequate assessments are conducted matters referred to TFHC or other service providers for the completion of assessments or reports should be adjourned for the minimum timeframes set out in **Appendix C.**

- (23) Reports and assessments will be ordered using the forms annexed in **Appendix D**.
- (24) Where lengthy adjournments are required for an assessment, a mention of the matter prior to the final date should be listed to ensure the progress of the report. The Agency tasked with the report order are to provide an update on the progress of the report. This can be by email to the relevant Registry.

Closed Court and Restrictions on Publication

- (25) Section 49 of the Act directs that the Court must be closed to the public.
- (26) Section 49 (2) provides that certain persons may remain in the closed Court as follows:
 - "However, in addition to the parties to the proceedings and Court staff, the following persons may attend the proceedings:
 - (a) a legal practitioner, whether or not the legal practitioner is the legal representative of the youth who is the subject of the proceedings;
 - (b) a responsible adult in relation to the youth;
 - (c) a person nominated by the youth for support;
 - (d) an employee or representative of the Agency or another Agency;
 - (e) a witness called to give evidence in the proceedings;
 - (f) a victim of the alleged offence committed by the youth;
 - (g) a person nominated by a victim for support;
 - (h) a genuine representative of the news media;
 - (i) an interpreter for a person attending the proceedings."
- (27) The Agency is the relevant department or unit who administers the provisions of the Act. Interpretation Act (NT) 1978, s 18A.
- (28) All other persons must seek the leave of the Judge to remain in the Court: s 49 (3).
- (29) Save for the youth, their legal practitioner and the prosecutor, the Judge may also exclude persons from remaining in the Court: s 49 (4) and (5).
- (30) Generally, the venue of the proceeding; and the identity of the youth, a party to the proceeding or a witness in the proceeding must not be published: s 50.

Prosecutions of youth over 12 but under 14 years of age

(31) Sections 38(2) and 43AQ of the *Criminal Code* 1983 apply to a youth who is over 12 but under the age of 14 years and who is charged with a criminal offence.

Matters capable of resolving in the Youth Justice Court

- (32) At the first mention of a matter for a youth who is not yet 14, if a plea of guilty is not indicated, the matter is to be listed for hearing on the first suitable and available hearing date approximately 8 to 12 weeks after the first mention. Efforts will be made to accommodate the availability of counsel.
- (33) An order will be made for the brief of evidence is to be served on defence counsel within 4 weeks of the first mention. The prosecution brief of evidence should include all relevant evidence pursuant to s 38(2) and s 43AQ.
- (34) The prosecutor may issue summonses to produce which will be returnable approximately 21 days after the first mention.
- (35) The matter is to be listed for case management inquiry approximately 6 weeks after the first mention of the matter. Both Counsel should consult and prepare a joint doli incapax hearing information form **Appendix E** for filing for this case management inquiry.
- (36) At the case management inquiry, the prosecutor should identify all of the evidence it will be relying upon to discharge its burden of proof under s 38(2) and s 43AQ. The defence counsel should identify if there are any additional issues in contest at the hearing, whether there are any agreed facts, and whether the statement of alleged facts is agreed for the purposes of determination of doli incapax. Parties should also indicate whether the hearing is on all files or a number of representation files.
- (37) Where possible, when a youth has multiple matters in which s 38(2) or s 43AQ apply, these matters will be listed for joint hearing. Considerations as to whether matters should be listed for joint hearing include, for example, the availability of Court time, number of files, timing of files, number or complexity of other issues in contest, and number and availability of witnesses.

Matters travelling through the PEM stream

- (38) Matters traveling in the PEM stream in which s 38(2) or s 43AQ apply will remain subject to the usual PEM timetabling, that is, an adjournment at first instance for a period of 8 weeks, with a brief service order of 6 weeks.
- (39) The prosecution brief of evidence should include evidence relied upon to discharge its burden of proof under s 38(2) or s 43AQ.

APPENDIX A

	LISTINGS SCHEDULE FOR YOUTH JUSTICE COURTS & FILES
DARWIN	List days: First bail or summons appearances to be listed for Monday or Friday at 10.00am only. Do not list on other days. A youth remanded in custody by a duty Judge should be remanded to the next working day, unless the next working day is a Thursday, in which case they should be remanded to appear at 2.00pm. Hearings: YJC Hearings are on Tuesdays and Wednesdays. PEMS: Mondays at 2.00pm Breaches: 10.00am Tuesdays DVOS: Wednesdays at 10.00am
ALICE SPRINGS	List days Monday and Thursday at 10.00am Youths refused bail by duty Judge should be remanded to the next working day. Hearings Tuesdays, Wednesdays and Fridays Fresh bail or summons matters are to be listed for Mondays.
ALICE SPRINGS CIRCUITS	List days Most circuits are only one day, if two day circuit list youth matters at 9.00am on the 2 nd day
KATHERINE	List days Alternative Fridays at 10.00am. See Katherine Court Calendar
KATHERINE CIRCUITS	List days 11.00am on the first day if a one day sitting 9.00am on the second day if a two day sitting
TENNANT CREEK	List days Monday at 1.00pm, if matters need to be adjourned to later in the week, to be listed at 9.00am
NHULUNBUY	List days Thursdays at 9.00am, or otherwise at 9.00am if no Thursday sitting
MANINGRIDA/RAMINIGING	List days 2 nd day of the sittings at 9.00am
ALYANGULA	List days Final day of the sittings at 2.00pm sitting at Angurugu
WADEYE	List days 2 ND day of the sittings at 9:00am
BORROLOOLA	List days 2 nd day of the sittings at 9.00am
OENPELLI/JABIRU	List days 2nd day of sittings at Oenpelli at 9.00am

APPENDIX B



NORTHERN TERRITORY OF AUSTRALIA YOUTH JUSTICE ACT

File No:

BAIL UNDERTAKING AND AGREEMENT BY ACCUSED PERSON

I, (the accused)	
live at	
and I undertake to appear at the Darwin Childrens Court at am/pm on place to which the proceedings may be continued for the following offences:	ıd
And I agree to comply with the following conditions while at liberty: list conditions other than those specified in Part C	
1. Promise to come to court;	
2. Promise to stay at:	
3. Promise to stay in at night and not leave from at night time until in the morning.	
4. Promise to do what the Blue Shirts tell me.	
Promise to wear my ankle bracelet (tracker) and not take or cut it off. Make sure it is charged.	
Promise to go to other programs or counselling if a Blue Shirt tells me to.	
7. Promise no grog or drugs.	
8. Promise to say yes to tests for grog and drugs.	
9. Promise not to talk or hang out with:	
10. Promise to go to Bush Mob or any other help that the Judge says I have to go to.	
11. Promise to go to school.	
12. Promise to go to the Police Station on between am and pm 13. I promise (other conditions)	
IF YOU DO NOT APPEAR ANY MONEY OR SECURITY GIVEN BY YOU MAY BE LOST BY ORDER OF THE COURT.	R
I agree that if I do not keep my undertaking or agreement I will pay \$0.00 to the Territory Government.	
Signature of accused per	son
This undertaking and agreement was entered into on Date entered before me at Darwin and a completed cop of this form was handed to the person who signed this bail undertaking and agreement.	ру
Regist	trar
PART C: BAIL CONDITION(S)	
You enter into an agreement, and deposit acceptable security, to forfeit the amount of money specified in you bail undertaking if you fail to comply with your bail undertaking; you deposit with the Court the amount of	ır

money specified in your bail undertaking, in cash, and enter into an agreement to forfeit the amount deposited if

you fail to comply with your bail undertaking.

APPENDIX C

Report Requested	Minimum Time Required
Supervision Assessment (s 71(1)(a))	3 business days
Community Work Order Assessment (s 71(1)(b))	Same day
Pre-Sentence Report (PSR) (s 69)	
* If in custody	4 weeks
* If in community	6 weeks
* An addendum report - custody	3 weeks
* An addendum report – community	4 weeks
Bail Supervision Assessment (s 28(3A) Bail Act)	3 business days
* If electronic monitoring is required	7 days
* If an assessment into Bail Supported Accommodation and case plan is required	7 days
Alternative Detention Assessment (s 71(1)(c))	15 working days
Back on Track Referral through the Court (Minister approved	7 business days
program) Courts request an assessment for eligibility to the Back on Track program.	7 Dusiness days
An order for assessment to be submitted together with a completed (defence to facilitate completion):	
 Referral form; and Consent form signed by a legal guardian. 	
Back on Track Progress Update (Minister approved program)	2 weeks
Other Minister Approved Program Assessment	7 business days
Section 51 Assessment	3 weeks except if
Child in care or may be in need of care	urgent
Section 67 Report	8 weeks with progress mention in
Assessing mental condition of youth	3 weeks
Section 68 Report	3 weeks
Education Report	
Institutional Report	
Progress Report	

APPENDIX D

Youth Court Orders Northern and Katherine Regions Pursuant to Practice Direction 3F & 3G

Pursuant to Practice Direction 3F & 3G Youth Justice Act 2005 (NT), Sections 51, 64, 67, 68, 69, 71, 77, 83, 84

	Youth Details	
Name:	DOB:	Language:
Current Address:		
Case Number/s:		
Legal Representative:	Age	ency:
Responsible Adult Name	and Contact:	
Youth location In	custody 🗌 On bail living at	
Documents attached Agreed tendered	greed / Alleged facts 🗌 Criminal his	tory Other documents
Child in Care of CEO Ye	s No Unknown	
	Judicial Officer	
ludge	Count I contion	Date of Order
Judge:	Court Location: 9, s71 etc. Territory Families As	Date of Order:
	llowing assessment be undertaken: I	
Northern@nt.gov.au	nowing assessment be undertaken. <u>I</u>	FRC. TOOINCOON-
Supervision Report	☐ Electronic Monitoring	☐ Pre-Sentence
Community Work	Alternative/Periodic Detention	☐ Compliance
☐ Institutional Report	SATS Case Plan (therapeutic de	etention plan)
_	(referral / update) <u>intake@saltbushn</u> pdate	t.org.au
•••••		
•••••		
•••••	•••••	•••••
•••••	•••••	•••••
•••••	•••••	
•••••	•••••	
•••••		
•••••		

••••••			
Date report require	ed: Progress mention date:		
	Emailed to on TF Courts or TF Child or Saltbush as above on		
Registry	/ / by		
só	7, s77 Reports Assessing Mental Condition of Youth		
	sment by TEMHS (Fitness to Plead, Mental Impairment) tReferrals.DoH@nt.gov.au		
Risk)	y TFHC (Multidisciplinary diagnostic assessment, Cognition or Forensic		
TFHC.YouthCo	urtNorthern@nt.gov.au		
Assessment by VSA.TEHS@nt.gov	/ VSA Team (DOH) (Complete separate VSA referral and email to		
•••••			
•••••			
•••••			
•••••			
Data rapart ragu	irad:		
Date report requ			
Registry	Emailed to TFHC Courts or DOH VSA or TEHMS as above on / /		
	by		
	s68 Educational Report		
•	the Department of Education in relation to the youth's school records ance and other reports or		
opadie (incio	Update (including attendance/vocational training and participation)		
•••••			
Date report requi	red:		

s84 Pre-Sentence Conference			
The Court orders the youth to participate in a pre-sentence conference, convened by a TFHC approved contractor			
(JSS / ARDS	5):		
☐ TFHC	C: <u>TFHC.RestorativeConferences@nt.gov.au</u>		
You	uth is Yolngu		
Email <u>Katherine</u> P	Prosecutions AGD.Prosecutions Prosecutions@pfes.nt.gov.au to provide victim con	YouthNorth@nt.gov.au or ntact details.	
•••••			
•••••			
•••••			
Date report	t required:		
Registry	Emailed to by	on / /	
	s83 (1)(e) Minister Approved Progra	ım Assessments	
The Court fi	inds charges proven and orders assessment (tick	one):	
Back on Tro	ack Program odate	Assess for eligibility /	
	Restorative Youth Justice Conference Assess for eligibility / progress update		
Community Youth Sentencing Program (Groote and East Arnhem) Assess for eligibility / progress update			
Date report required:			
	Email to: <u>IFHC.BackonTrack@nt.gov.au</u> & <u>IFHC.YouthCourtNorthern@nt.gov.au</u> on		
Registry	Email to: 1740c.8ackonTrack@nt.gov.au & 1740c.8ackonTrack@nt.gov.au & 1740c.1746 & <a h<="" td=""><td>outhCourtNorthern@nt.gov.au on</td>	outhCourtNorthern@nt.gov.au on	

s64 Youth Diversion				
The Court refers th	ne youth to be assessed for inclusion in a:			
☐ Youth	Diversion Program or a youth justice conference through youth diversion			
•••••				
•••••				
Date report required:				
Registry	Emailed to YouthDiversionUnitDarwin@pfes.nt.gov.au on / / by			

Youth Court Orders Southern Region

Pursuant to Practice Direction 3E & 3F Youth Justice Act 2005 (NT), Sections 51, 64, 67, 68, 83, 84

	YOUTH DETAILS			
Name:	DOB:	Language:		
Current Address:				
Case Number/s:				
Legal Representative:	Agency:			
Responsible Adult Name and (
Youth location In cu	stody 🗌 On bail living at			
Documents attached Agre tendered	ed / Alleged facts 🗌 Criminal history 🗌	Other documents		
Child in Care of CEO Yes [No Unknown			
	JUDICIAL OFFICER			
Judge: Order:	Court Location:	Date of		
TE	RRITORY FAMILIES ASSESSMENTS			
The Court orders that the follow IFHC.YouthCourtSouthern@nt.g	ving assessment be undertaken:			
Supervision Assessment Report	Electronic Monitoring	☐ Pre-Sentence		
Community Work	Alternative/Periodic Detention			
Institutional Report	SATS Case Plan (therapeutic deter	ntion plan)		
Supervised Bail Assessment Saltbush Bail Assessment (referral/update) Intake@saltbushnt.org.au & Ryan@saltbushnt.org.au				
s51 Assessment s51 upo				
	•••••	•••••		
•••••		•••••		
	••••••	•••••		
	••••••	••••••••••••		
•••••	••••••			
		••••••		
	•••••			

		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	•••••
		•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••
•••••		•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	
•••••		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	••••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••
•••••		••••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••
•••••	,	••••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••
Date report requi	red:		i	Progres	ss mention	date:	
	Emailed to on	TE Courts (or TE Child	Ahusa	or Salthus	h as above	on / /
	by	II Coolis (ADUJC	Or Sambos	n as above	7 011 / /
	·						
REGISTRY							
	REPORTS ASS	ESSING M	ENTAL C	ONDI	TON OF Y	OUTH	
□ s77 asse	essment by	TEMHS	(Fitness	to	Plead,	Mental	Impairment)
TFHC.YouthCourt	•		(11111033	10	ricaa,	Morna	mpairmem
	TFHC (Multidisc		ignostic as	sessme	ent, Cogni	tion or Fore	nsic Risk)
TFHC.YouthCourts	•						,
•••••	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	••••••	•••••	•••••	••••••	•••••
•••••		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	••••••	•••••	•••••	••••••••	••••••
••••••		••••••	••••••	•••••	•••••	••••••••	••••••
••••••	,	••••••	••••••	•••••	•••••	••••••	••••••
••••••		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	••••••	•••••	•••••	••••••	••••••
••••••		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	••••••	•••••	•••••	••••••	••••••
•••••		••••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • •	••••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	••••••
•••••	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	••••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••
•••••	,	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	••••••	•••••	•••••	••••••	•••••
•••••	,	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	• • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	•••••
••••••	,	••••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	••••••	••••••
•••••		••••••	••••••	•••••	•••••	••••••	••••••
Date report requi	red:					Progress m	ention date:
REGISTRY	Email to TFHC	or as above	_on / .	/ k	ру		
	S68 EDUC	CATION R	EPORT O	R OTH	ER REPO	RT	
☐ A report from t	he Department	of Education	on in relati	on to t	he vouth'	s school rec	ords
including attenda			orr in rolan	011101	,	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	.01.00
Update Educa	ition Report (inc	luding atte	ndance/v	ocatio	nal trainin	g and parti	cipation)
Other Report (detailed below)						
••••							
					• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
	,		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • •		•••••	•••••
•••••	•••••		•••••	•••••		•••••	•••••
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •							• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •

Date report r	equired:		
REGISTRY	Email to y	yclsouth.doe@education.nt.gov.au on / /	
	by		
		S84 PRE-SENTENCE CONFERENCE	
The Court or	ders the yo	buth to participate in a pre-sentence conference, convened by:	
☐ Jesui	t Social Se	rvices: TFHC.RestorativeConferences@nt.gov.au	
☐ Othe	r (please s	pecify)	
•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
•••••	•••••		
Date report r	equired:		
REGISTRY	REGISTRY Email to <u>TFHC.RestorativeConferences@nt.gov.au</u> on / /		
	by	V. MANUSTER ARRESTATION	
	583 (1)	(e) MINISTER APPROVED PROGRAM ASSESSMENTS	
		es proven and orders assessment (tick one):	
Back on Trac update	ck Program	Assess for eligibility / progress	
Restorative Y update	outh Justic	ce Conference Assess for eligibility / progress	
Date report			
Date report	required:	Email to IFHC.RestorativeConferences@nt.gov.au &	
REGISTRY		TFHC.YouthCourtSouthern@nt.gov.au on / / by	

s64 Youth Diversion
The Court refers the youth to be assessed for inclusion in a:
☐ Youth Diversion Program or a youth justice conference through youth diversion
Date report required:
Email to YouthDiversionUnitAliceSprings@pfes.nt.gov.au
Registry on / / by

APPENDIX E

DOLI INCAPAX INFORMATION FORM

Pursuant to Practice Direction 4C(35)

YOUTH DETAILS		
Name:	DOB:	
Case Number/s:		
Information required	Response	
Has the Brief material been disclosed?	Yes / No	
	□ Evidence of capacity□ Evidence of conduct	
Which burden of proof applies?	□ S38	
	□ S43AQ	
Which charges are in dispute?		
Is the statement of alleged facts agreed for the purpose of determination of Doli Incapx?		
Are there any co-offenders and should the hearings be joined?		
Does the young person intend to call witnesses?		
Does the young person intend to call expert witnesses? Has any expert report been served? If not, when will it be served?		
Are there any issues to be resolved on a Voir Dire?		
Will s18 of the Evidence Act affect the compellability of any witnesses (e.g. parents)?		

Are there any vulnerable witnesses or special arrangements required?			
Will interpreters be required?			
Will video-conferencing be required?			
Is there an EROI that is intended to be played? How long?			
Is there any CCTV or body worn footage to be played? How long?			
Are you aware of any matters that may affect the smooth running of the hearing? If "yes" please give details (e.g., witness current location unknown, illness, expert availability)			
What is the estimated length of proceedings in hours/days?			
WITNESS ADVICE			
Prosecution Witness	Witness required for cross examination	If witness is not required for cross examination is the tender of the statement consented to?	
Prosecution Witness 1.	for cross	required for cross examination is the tender of the statement	
	for cross	required for cross examination is the tender of the statement	
1.	for cross	required for cross examination is the tender of the statement	
1. 2.	for cross	required for cross examination is the tender of the statement	
1. 2. 3.	for cross	required for cross examination is the tender of the statement	
1. 2. 3. 4.	for cross	required for cross examination is the tender of the statement	
1. 2. 3. 4. 5.	for cross	required for cross examination is the tender of the statement	
1. 2. 3. 4. 5.	for cross	required for cross examination is the tender of the statement	
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.	for cross	required for cross examination is the tender of the statement	
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7.	for cross	required for cross examination is the tender of the statement	

NAME:	NAME:
SIGNATURE:	SIGNATURE:
Date:	Date

Practice Direction 4CA Youth Justice Community Court Sentencing Procedure

(1) The following Practice Direction is issued in accordance with section 53 (1) (b) and 80F of the *Youth Justice Act 2005* (NT) and will apply from 21 May 2024.

Part A – Introduction and Purpose

- (2) This Practice Direction applies where a youth offender is to be sentenced in accordance with the Community Court Sentencing Procedure set out in Part 5 Division 4 of the *Youth Justice Act 2005 (NT)*. A reference to Community Court in this Practice Direction is a reference to the Youth Justice Community Court Sentencing Procedure.
- (3) The aim of the Community Court is to:
 - (a) Increase Aboriginal community participation and confidence in the criminal justice system.
 - (b) Facilitate a better understanding by the Court of any underlying issues leading to offending by Aboriginal youth.
 - (c) Provide support to victims of crime and enhance their rights through participation in the Community Court process.
 - (d) Provide more culturally appropriate, restorative and effective sentencing options.

And thereby:

- (a) Increase the youth offender's prospects of rehabilitation and reparation to the community.
- (b) Reduce causes of re-offending by Aboriginal youth.
- (c) Reduce the rate of breaches of court orders by Aboriginal youth offenders.
- (d) Reduce the over-representation of Aboriginal youth in the Northern Territory justice system.
- (e) Increase compliance with court orders by Aboriginal youth offenders.
- (f) Reduce the number of victims of crime.
- (4) The Community Court is a delivery of justice that provides community-based approaches when sentencing Aboriginal youth offenders. The Community Court sentencing decisions are assisted by Law and Justice Group members, through the provision of Aboriginal Experience Reports and participation in the sentencing process. The Community court is a "whole of community" process and encourages inclusive collaboration between the Court, legal practitioners, victims, youth offenders, stakeholders and community members.

Part B – Establishment of the Community Court

- (5) In supporting community ownership, each Law and Justice Group where the Community Court sits will be invited to:
 - (a) Reflect and consider naming the Community Court; and
 - (b) Develop and display any art or artefacts significant to the recognition of the Court authority and proceedings; and
 - (c) Identify any Aboriginal youth specific culturally safe/relevant adaptations to the court physical environment or process for consideration of the Judge and
 - (d) Identify a location where it is appropriate to convene the Court on community. The Court will make every reasonable effort to convene the court at the location identified, subject to s48 of the Youth Justice Act 2005 NT and any practical considerations.
- (6) Prior to the sitting day of Community Court, Law and Justice Group members and/or Respected Persons will be invited by the Judge through the Registrar to consider if they wish to arrange/perform a welcome or introduction to all court participants, in a form chosen by the Law and Justice Group.
- (7) The Community Court is to be conducted in a way that:
 - (a) Enables the Court to address the factors contributing to the youth's offending.
 - (b) Enables the Court to consider personal, family and cultural matters when dealing with the youth offender.
 - (c) Enables the Court to identify and understand the importance of protective factors unique to the youth offender and their community including cultural connection and responsibilities to prevent re-offending.
 - (d) Encourages full participation of the youth offender and enables the youth offender to have input during the Court mentions and sentence.
 - (e) Uses language that is understood by the youth offender and confirms the youth offender's understanding of the process.
 - (f) Provides the victim when present or their representative and/or the prosecution or police officer where no victim or representative present, an opportunity to address the Court about the youth offender's actions and their impact.
 - (g) Provides all Community Court participants with an opportunity to address the Court about the youth offender and/or offending and any other relevant matters.
 - (h) Meets the needs of persons with disabilities to enable equal participation.
- (8) To ensure understanding by all participants the Community Court proceedings will be conducted in a language understood by the youth offender and other participants and interpreted into English if required.

- (9) The Community Court's participants are the Youth Court Judge, the Law and Justice Group members, the youth offender, the youth offender's lawyer, the youth offender's responsible adult, the prosecutor and/or police, the victim and/or his or her representative, representatives of relevant support services and any representatives from the Department of Territory Families, Housing and Communities. It excludes other individuals seated in the Court unless they are invited by the Judge to speak.
- (10) The Youth Court Judge and Law and Justice Group members may choose to invite relevant government, non-government service providers and other relevant community members or individuals as recommended by the Law and Justice Group to participate in the Community Court.
- (11) The youth offender may be accompanied by a support person and/or family member as well as their lawyer at the Community Court.
- (12) The victim of an offence may attend the Community Court and be accompanied by a support person, family member and/ or service.
- (13) If a victim of offending wishes to participate and/or observe Community Court via audio visual link or telephone this will be facilitated by the Court and arranged by the Community Court Registrar.
- (14) The Court will be closed in accordance with s49 of the Youth Justice Act 2005 (NT), however the Court may permit the attendance of Law and Justice Group members participating in the Community Court pursuant to Division 4 of the Youth Justice Act 2005 (NT).
- (15) Community Court will often involve the discussion and disclosure of sensitive and personal information to both the youth offender and victim of offending. Any information of a sensitive or private nature disclosed during the Community Court and its processes, is to be treated with care by all participants and only discussed with other people where necessary to conduct the work of Community Court.
- (16) Any issues of cultural sensitivity should be raised by the Law and Justice Group with the Community Court Registrar prior to the sitting or as soon as practicable and appropriate to do so.
- (17) The Judge can terminate or adjourn the proceedings at any time but must provide reasons to all participants, including the Law and Justice Group members.
- (18) The youth offender may withdraw from the Community Court at any time. Where a youth offender withdraws their consent to participate in the Community Court, the Court will proceed to sentence as a regular sitting of the Youth Justice Court.

Part C – Application process for Community Court

- (19) S80C of the Youth Justice Act sets out the criteria a youth offender must meet before making an application to the Youth Justice court for the court to sentence the offender in Community Court. Application may be made:
 - (a) By a youth offender or their legal representative;

- (b) Following a plea of guilty in the Youth Justice court where facts are agreed and where the sentence is to proceed in the Youth Justice Court jurisdiction;
- (c) Before the Youth Justice Court at any place or in writing using an application to relist form; and
- (d) By completing a Community Courts application and eligibility form; which includes the written consent of the youth offender and their guardian/parent for the disclosure of personal information between the Court and any relevant government departments including the Department of Territory Families, Housing and Communities, Law and Justice Groups and non-government organisations or persons involved in the delivery of the Community Court.
- (20) Where the criteria are met, the Court will consider applications to Community Court across the spectrum of offending and likely sentencing outcomes. The possible imposition or likely imposition of a sentence of detention does not preclude a youth offender for inclusion in Community Court. Community Court outcomes may include all dispositions pursuant to the *Youth Justice Act 2005* (NT), including actual detention.
- (21) Such application does not have to be made at the location of the Community Court, but if accepted, the matter must be adjourned to that Court and place.
- (22) Where an application is made for Community court, the Community court registrar will obtain the views of the Law and Justice Group members of the location sought and provide those views to the Judge and parties.
- (23) If an application involves moving a matter from the location of the offending, the Community Court Registrar will obtain the views of the Law and Justice Group where the offending took place and provide those views to the Judge and parties. In circumstances where there is no Law and Justice Group, the Community Court registrar will obtain the views of the Elders and Respected Persons of the Community and provide them to the Judge and parties.
- (24) The prosecutor may request an adjournment to consult the victim to obtain their views on the offender's application and identify any victim contact person and support person as nominated by the victim.
- (25) The youth offender's application will be assessed by the Court in accordance with s80C of the Youth Justice Act 2005 (NT) and based on the information provided in the application form, all other relevant facts and circumstances, any submission by the youth offender and/or the youth offender's legal representative and the prosecutor.
- (26) If the Court declines to grant the youth offender's application the Court will provide its reasons to the youth offender and parties to the matter.
- (27) Where a youth offender's application for Community Court is refused in the first instance, a youth offender may re-apply if there is a change in circumstances and/or new relevant information is submitted to the Court.

- (28) If a youth offender's application to be sentenced by the Community Court is not granted by the Court and the youth offender does not reapply for reconsideration, the matter will proceed in accordance with usual sentencing procedures or be adjourned to another date for sentence.
- (29) If the Court grants the youth offender's application to be sentenced in Community Court, pursuant to s80D (2) of the Youth Justice Act the Court will order an Aboriginal Experience Report for preparation by the Law and Justice Group members.
- (30) At that time the Court may also order other reports available under the Youth Justice Act 2005 (NT).
- (31) The Court will then adjourn the matter to a sitting of the Youth Justice Court at the relevant Community with a suitable period permitted to allow for the Aboriginal Experience Report to be prepared. The Court need not be constituted by the same Judge who granted the application.

Part D - Victim Contact and Victim Support

(32) Where a youth offender's application has been accepted by the Court to be dealt with in Community Court, during the adjournment a victim may nominate to the Prosecutor a contact person and/or a support person. These roles may be performed by the same person or a different person, as nominated by the victim.

These roles may be performed by:

- (a) A member of the Law and Justice Group who is identified as a trusted person for the victim;
- (b) A facilitator for a local Law and Justice Group.
- (c) A local service provider with appropriate connection to the case and the victim (for example a Women's Shelter staff member).
- (d) An Aboriginal Community Police Officer or liaison officer; or
- (e) Another person, including a family member.
- (33) The prosecutor will advise the Community Court Registrar of the name and contact details of any victim contact or support person. The Community Court Registrar will then contact the victim contact and/or support person to provide information about the role.
 - (a) It is the role of the victim contact person to explain the Community Court process to the victim and invite their participation in the process.
 - (b) Where the victim consents to being involved in the Community Court the victim contact person should provide assistance in preparing the victim for participation in the Community Court, provide information about the victim contact person's role, inform the victim of their right to have a support person or representative present at court and how they may participate in the process on behalf of the victim.

(c) The victim contact person will then report to the Community Court Registrar as to whether the victim intends to participate in the process. If the victim is participating, the victim contact person will address if this is in person, whether the victim will have a support person present or if they will participate through the attendance of a representative to present their views.

Part E – Preparation of the Aboriginal Experience Report

- (34) Pursuant to s80B of the Youth Justice Act 2005 (NT) the Law and Justice Groups are responsible for preparation of the Aboriginal Experience Reports.
 - (a) The Law and Justice Group will nominate members of the group to participate in a Community Court on behalf of the Law and Justice Group, which may include but is not limited to, the preparation of Aboriginal Experience Reports and/or to sit with the Judge during the Community Court.
 - (b) Law and Justice Group members who participate in Community Court are appointed pursuant to the Regulations, however it is at the Judge's discretion as to whether a Law and Justice Group member can participate in a particular matter.
 - (c) Factors that may be considered by the Judge in this discretion include the management of any conflict of interest and any relevant criminal antecedents.
- (35) The Community Court Registrar is the point of contact with the Court for the Law and Justice Group members and is responsible for the provision of documentation and information to the Law and Justice Group.

Conflict of Interest

- (36) The youth offender and victim/s have the right to raise an objection to the participation of a particular Law and Justice Group member in the preparation of an Aboriginal Experience Report or during the Community Court sentencing procedure on the basis that there is a conflict of interest.
 - (a) Prior to any documentation being provided to the Law and Justice group members who will be involved in the preparation of the Aboriginal Experience Report and Community Court, the identity of the nominated members will be provided by the Community Court Registrar to the youth offender or their lawyer and the victim and/or victim contact person (if appointed).
 - (b) The youth offender, their legal representative or the victim and/or victim contact person have 5 working days on receipt of the names of the nominated members to raise any conflict of interest with the Community Court Registrar. On receipt of advice of a potential conflict of interest the Community Court Registrar will list the matter before the Judge who ordered the Aboriginal Experience Report or who will hear the matter, so that they may hear submissions by the parties on the issue.
 - (c) After considering any submissions and evidence provided, the Judge is responsible for determining whether a conflict of interest exists and if so, to decide whether the

conflict should give rise to the Law and Justice group member withdrawing from participating in the proceedings or whether the conflict (if any) can be managed and the member remain in proceedings.

- (37) Prior to any documentation being provided to the Law and Justice Group members the youth offender and victim's name will be disclosed to the Law and Justice Group so that any members can raise any conflict concerns with the Community Court Registrar for the Judge's consideration. The question of conflict and a members continued participation in the process will be at the Judge's discretion.
- (38) If, at any time during the Community Court, a Law and Justice Group member considers their involvement to be detrimental to the aims and objectives of the Community Court sentencing procedure, they may excuse themselves from the preparation of the Aboriginal Experience Report or the sentencing hearing.
- (39) If it is necessary to replace a Law and Justice Group member in the process for any reason, the Law and Justice Group will nominate an approved replacement and advise the court and parties.

Documentation to be provided to the Law and Justice Group members

- (40) The Community Court Registrar will notify the Law and Justice Group of the Court order and provide the relevant documentation to the Law and Justice Group members so that they may commence preparation of the Aboriginal Experience Report.
- (41) The relevant documentation to be provided includes copies of the charges to which the youth offender has entered pleas of guilty, the agreed facts of the offending, a copy of the youth offender's information for courts, a copy of any victim impact statement tendered to the court at the plea of guilty and any further documentation provided to the court by the youth offender, their legal representative or the prosecutor.
 - (a) All care should be taken to keep documents provided to the Law and Justice Groups during the course of proceedings confidential and only distributed where necessary to conduct Community Court Law and Justice Group work.
 - (b) Items that are culturally sensitive, identifying, particularly photographs, or may contain traumatic material must not be distributed wider than the Law and Justice Group members involved in the sentencing procedure, the prosecution and counsel for the defence and kept in a way to minimise unnecessary exposure to traumatic or sensitive material.
- (42) All documentation provided by the Community Court Registrar to the Law and Justice Group members in relation to a particular matter may be returned to the Community Court Registrar once the matter has been concluded.

Preparation of the Aboriginal Experience Report

- (43) The Law and Justice Group members will then prepare the Aboriginal Experience Report taking into account the provisions of s80B of the Youth Justice Act. As part of this process the Law and Justice Group members will:
 - (a) Take all reasonable steps to offer an opportunity for the youth offender to speak with the members to discuss their offending, personal background and any other relevant matters.
 - (b) Take all reasonable steps to offer an opportunity to the victim or their contact person to be spoken with if they have elected to participate in the process (with a nominated support person present if they so choose) about the victim's perspective on the offending.
- (44) Matters to be included in the Aboriginal Experience Report may identify availability of programs and treatment on community that the youth offender may access or already access, or may identify a lack of availability of programs or treatment on community that would be of assistance to the youth offender if developed, such as but not limited to:
 - (a) Community work, drug and alcohol rehabilitation programs, behaviour change programs, counselling, parenting programs, mental health supports and treatment plans (if relevant) and any reports regarding any disability or impairment that may impact on the youth offender.
 - (b) Any local cultural or community activities that are available to assist the youth offenders' rehabilitation and;
 - (c) Activities that would restore or give back to the victim in particular or the community generally, who has been impacted by the offending.
 - (d) Employment or volunteer work available to the youth offender on community.
 - (e) Any alternative to custody programs that accept youth offenders.
- (45) Where it is identified in an Aboriginal Experience Report that certain programs or treatment that may benefit the youth offender are not available on community, the Law and Justice group members are encouraged to identify in the Aboriginal Experience Report how such programs could be achieved in the community and if any local initiatives could grow their capacity to expand programs or treatment to adapt current services to meet the gap.
- (46) The Law and Justice Group members will prepare the Aboriginal Experience Report in the form and manner approved by the Chief Judge, however this information may be in other than writing.

Part F - Procedure on the day of Community Court

(47) Prior to the commencement of the Community Court sitting the Judge will meet with the Law and Justice Group members to discuss the Community Court matters which are to be heard in the Community Court list for that circuit.

- (48) Just prior to the formal opening of the Community Court, if the Law and Justice Group and Respected persons have elected to do so, the Judge will invite the group to conduct any welcome or introduction referred to above at point 6.
- (49) The Judge will then formally open the Community Court and acknowledge the Country on which the Court is being conducted.
- (50) The Judge will then explain the role of each participant and how the matter will proceed.
- (51) To encourage full participation, the Judge and Community Court participants may be seated in a formal Court room arrangement, or at the same level, or in a circle, or in any other arrangement at the Judge's discretion following consultation with the Law and Justice Group members assisting that day.
- (52) At the sentencing hearing, one or more Law and Justice Group members may sit with the Judge. As far as practicable, these will be the same Law and Justice Group members who prepared the youth offender's Aboriginal Experience Report.
- (53) At the commencement of the matter, the Court will allow an opportunity to each participant to introduce themselves to the Court and explain their interest and role in the matter.
- (54) The Judge will decide the order and manner of proceedings, having regard to any information the Community Court participants may wish to express. The Community Court sentencing procedure will contain the following elements:
 - (a) The Judge will explain the charge to the youth offender and confirm the offenders' understanding of their plea of guilty previously entered.
 - (b) The prosecutor will then read out the agreed facts to those present.
 - (c) The agreed facts read out may be reduced to a summary of the formal agreed facts.
 - (d) Where the victim consents, any victim impact statement obtained by the prosecution (or a summary thereof) may be read out to the court by the prosecutor.
 - (e) The Law and Justice Group members will present the Aboriginal Experience Report to the Judge and talk about the contents and recommendations of the report.
 - (f) During the presentation of the Aboriginal Experience Report, the Law and Justice Group members may explain to the youth offender and the Court the impact that the offending has had on the community and his or her family, any impact the offending has had on the victim and may acknowledge any steps that the youth offender has taken to address factors contributing to his or her offending.
 - (g) The presentation may include discussion of any culturally relevant sentencing options recommended in the Aboriginal Experience Report by the Law and Justice Group members.
 - (h) During the sentencing discussion the Judge may invite other contributors to be available to speak, including the youth offender, the victim, the victim's chosen representative or victim contact officer.

- (i) The Judge and the Law and Justice Group members sitting with the Judge will encourage the youth offender to speak to the court about the offending, the steps they have taken or are taking to address the factors contributing to their offending, and their motivation to address their offending, rather than talking through a legal representative.
- (j) The youth offender will be encouraged to comment about the effect of the offences on the victim and acknowledge any identified effect the offending has had on the victim and the community.
- (k) The Judge may ask the youth offender how the court might assist them to address the factors contributing to the offending and how the court may support the youth offender to stop offending in the future.
- (I) The prosecutor is offered the opportunity to make any further submissions on sentence.
- (m) The youth offender and/or their counsel is offered the opportunity to make any further submissions on sentence.
- (n) After hearing all final submissions, the Court may proceed to sentence the youth offender in accordance with relevant sentencing legislation or adjourn the matter for further mention or mentions dependent on what approach to sentencing the Court decides to take.
- (o) Following sentence, the consequences for any breach of the sentence should be explained to the youth offender and that the youth offender demonstrate an understanding of those consequences.
- (p) If the Judge proceeds to sentence the youth offender, following sentence, the Judge will invite the Law and Justice Group members sitting with the Judge to address the youth offender on that sentence.

Part G – Progress Reports and Mentions

- (55) Where the Judge decides to adjourn the matter to another date the Judge may vary or grant bail to provide for the youth offender's participation in any programs, treatment or activities and any other conditions as the Court may deem appropriate.
- (56) The Court may further request an addendum Aboriginal Experience Report be prepared by the Law and Justice Group for the next Community Court date, to provide any updates to the matters discussed in the first Aboriginal Experience Report and update as to the progress of the youth offender in any programs, activities and any other relevant matters including the victim's perspective.
- (57) Where matters are adjourned for progress mentions to a future Community Court date, the procedures and guidelines set out in this Practice Direction should be applied by the Court for each sitting of the Community Court.

(58) It is expected that the same Law and Justice Group members remain involved from the start to the completion of a particular matter however, it is acknowledged that this may not always be possible.

Part H: Breach of Sentence

(59) Where a youth offender breaches an order of the Community Court and that breach is admitted, before dealing with the breach, the Court may adjourn the matter with the youth offender's consent to the next sitting of Community Court (if the court is not sitting as a Community Court) to gain the views of the Law and Justice group members as to the breach and any other relevant information the members may provide.

Practice Direction 4D Applications for Reconsideration and Review

- (1) The purpose of this Practice Direction is to regulate the procedures in relation to the reconsideration and review of sentences in the Youth Justice Court pursuant to sections 141 and 142 of the *Youth Justice Act 2005* ('the Act').
- (2) Sections 141 and 142 of *the Act* provide for a reconsideration of a sentence or a review of a sentence. Pursuant to the *Youth Justice Regulations 2006*, Form 16 (Reconsideration) and Form 17 (Review) are the relevant application forms.

Process

- (3) If a youth or a person on behalf of a youth make an application for reconsideration or the Commissioner of Correctional Services or a prosecutor make application for a review of an order the following process shall apply.
- (4) The relevant form² shall be lodged with the Court, accompanied by an affidavit or affidavits of evidence supporting the application.
- (5) The court registry will provide a date, place and time for the hearing of the application, which generally will be not less than seven days after lodgement, unless in urgent circumstances.
- (6) If the application is made personally by the youth, the Court shall inform all parties of the time and date of the application and provide a copy of the application and supporting affidavit.
- (7) If the application is made by the Commissioner or the Prosecution they shall inform all other parties of the time and date of the application and must serve each other party with the application and supporting affidavit.
- (8) If bail is to be sought pending the hearing and determination of an application, this should be stated in the application together with the grounds on which the bail application is to be made and the terms of the bail proposal.
- (9) All documents required to be served must be served on the other parties no later than three clear days prior to the hearing.
- (10) If the application is urgent, this should be indicated, including the reasons for urgency, and leave may be granted for shortening of the above time frames and requirements.

² The relevant form for a reconsideration of sentence is From 16 of the *Youth Justice Regulations*. Form 17 of those Regulations is the relevant form for a review of sentence.

Practice Direction 4E Care and Protection of Children

(1) The object of this Practice Direction is to provide for practice and procedure to ensure the fair, effective and efficient conduct of proceedings under the *Care and Protection of Children Act 2007* ('the Act') in the Family Matters Division of the Local Court.

Applications to the Court

- (2) An application must be in writing using the Care and Protection Application Form, found on the <u>Local Court website</u> and must:
 - (a) state the orders that are sought;
 - (b) state the statutory provision under which each order might be made;
 - (c) state the grounds of the application;
 - (d) include particulars of the factual allegations or circumstances relied on to make out the grounds of the application; and
 - (e) be signed by the applicant, an authorised delegate or on the applicant's behalf by the applicant's legal representative.
- (3) All statements and particulars in an application must be in plain language and expressed clearly, precisely and succinctly.
- (4) If multiple or alternative orders are sought; for each such order, the grounds and supporting statements and particulars relevant to each order must be precisely stated.
- (5) Where a party makes application in relation to more than one child and each child has the same parents and the subject matter of the application is the same or substantially the same, as far as possible the party may file:
 - (a) A single application form that contains the required information about each child; or
 - (b) A single affidavit that sets out supporting information relevant to each child.
- (6) The Court may give different directions and make different orders in relation to some or all of the children or direct separate hearings if the Court considers it necessary in the interests of the child.
- (7) An application for an extension of an existing protection order is to be listed no earlier than 15 working days from the date of filing and must be served on the parties or their legal representative at least 10 days before the listed court date.

Interlocutory applications

(8) An interlocutory application must be in writing using the Interlocutory Application Form and accompanied by an affidavit containing evidence that sufficiently sets out the basis on which the application is made. This form can be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>.

(9) The applicant must serve a copy of the application (and accompanying documents) on the other parties as soon as practicable after it is filed in the Court, but not later than two working days before the next date for hearing in the proceedings.

Material Supporting an Application

- (10) Applications must be filed with a supporting affidavit containing evidence that sufficiently sets out the basis on which the application is made and, as soon as practicable, a copy of the child's birth certificate.
- (11) Unless otherwise directed by the Court, any supporting materials or reports that are intended to be relied upon shall be annexed to an affidavit, unless otherwise directed by the Court.
- (12) Material filed at any stage of the proceedings must be served on the other parties at least two working days before the next listed date.
- (13) Unless otherwise directed by the Court, a copy of any subsequent or amended care plan, interim care plan or any reports made pursuant to s74(5), shall be filed and served within 14 days of being prepared.
- (14) When an application seeking a protection order is filed concerning a child for whom there has been a previous care and protection order, or for the extension or variation of an existing protection order, the material in support of the application must include:
 - (a) the reports made pursuant to s74(5) of the Act for the review of the care plan conducted during the operation of the previous order;
 - (b) a copy of the most recent care plan implemented, or sought to be implemented, during the operation of the previous order; and
 - (c) a document reporting the extent to which each party has complied with requirements, directions or undertakings applicable to the party under the previous order.

Response to an Application

- (15) Unless otherwise directed by the Court, a party opposing any part of an application served on them, must file and serve a response within 4 weeks.
- (16) The response to the application must be in writing using the Response form and must:
 - (a) state clearly the orders sought in the application that are opposed, any orders that are not opposed and any alternative orders that the respondent proposes;
 - (b) briefly outline which allegations contained in the application and supporting affidavit are disputed and the basis for that dispute;
 - (c) outline if the party agrees there are protection concerns and broadly which concerns are accepted;

Part 4 CHILDREN'S COURT PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 4E Care and Protection of Children

- (d) if seeking reunification, outline any proposal to address any accepted protection concerns; and
- (e) be signed by a respondent or a respondent's legal representative on instructions.
- (17) It is not intended that the initial response filed will be detailed and comprehensive. The purpose of the initial response is to clarify what is in dispute and to narrow the issues. However, at any stage of the proceedings, the Court may order that a respondent file a further detailed affidavit if the Court determines that it is necessary to progress the matter.
- (18) The response form can be found on the Local Court website.
- (19) Material filed in support of a response at any stage of the proceedings, must be served on the other parties at least 2 working days before the next listed court date.

Affidavits of Service

(20) All affidavits of service are to be filed within 7 days of service.

Case Conferences

- (21) A Case Conference means a conference between the parties including their legal representatives to determine the issues in contest.
- (22) The Court may at any stage of the proceedings order a conference between the parties for the purpose of determining and/or resolving matters in dispute and may give directions as to any material to be filed and served before the conference.
- (23) Evidence of anything said or done at a conference is inadmissible in the proceeding, except with the consent of all parties.
- (24) Defended applications will be listed for a case conference and so far as practicable, each conference is to be held within 4 weeks of the filing of all of the responses.
- (25) Following a case conference, if there are still matters which are not resolved, the parties are to:
 - (a) agree on a statement of factual and legal issues that remain in dispute;
 - (b) identify each fact or issue relied on to support a finding that a child is in need of protection;
 - (c) specify any directions considered necessary if the child is found in need of protection;
 - (d) unless otherwise agreed the statement will be drafted by the applicant; and
 - (e) the statement is to be signed by the parties and filed at least 2 working days before the next listed court date.

Mediation Conference

- (26) At any stage in the proceedings, the Court may order that the parties attend a mediation conference before a judicial registrar under Rule 32.07(2)(a) of the *Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules* 1998.
- (27) Pursuant to Rule 32.07(5) of the *Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules* 1998, a party attending the mediation conference may be accompanied by a legal practitioner, unless the Court orders otherwise.
- (28) Unless the Court orders otherwise, a party attending the mediation conference may be accompanied by another person only with the approval of the judicial registrar conducting the mediation conference.
- (29) At the conclusion of the mediation conference the judicial registrar conducting the mediation conference shall prepare a brief report for the Court confirming:
 - (a) the date, time and place where the mediation conference was conducted;
 - (b) which parties participated in the mediation conference; and
 - (c) whether an agreement was reached, whether there was no agreement reached and whether it is recommended that there be a further mediation conference.
- (30) Pursuant to Rule 32.11 of the *Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules 1998*, the judicial registrar conducting the mediation conference shall not inform the Court of any offers made or provide copies of any signed agreements without the consent of all parties participating in the mediation conference.

Statement of the Views and Wishes of the Child

- (31) Where a legal representative has been appointed for a child, the representative is to file and serve a statement of the child's views and wishes as soon as practicable after their appointment.
- (32) The statement of the child's views and wishes shall include a statement confirming whether the legal representative is acting on instructions from the child or acting in the best interests of the child, and the basis for deciding this capacity.
- (33) If the application is contested and is directed to a case conference or a mediation conference, unless it has already been filed in accordance with 28.31, the statement of views and wishes is to be filed and served at least two working days before the date fixed for the conference.

Case Management Inquiry

(34) When a matter is listed for hearing, the Court shall order that the parties attend a case management inquiry which will, if practicable, be presided over by the Judge who is to hear the matter.

Part 4 CHILDREN'S COURT PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 4E Care and Protection of Children

- (35) At least seven days before the case management inquiry all parties shall file and serve on the other parties a case outline which contains:
 - (a) a list of all the affidavits and other documents including reports to be relied upon by the party at the hearing;
 - (b) a schedule of all documents produced upon summons upon which a party proposes to rely at the hearing, including cross-examination;
 - (c) the statement of issues in dispute as agreed from the case conference;
 - (d) confirmation of the witnesses required for cross-examination.
- (36) At a case management inquiry, the Court may make such further directions as the Court considers appropriate.
- (37) Where a party who has been served and has failed to respond to an application or without reasonable excuse has failed to comply with the directions of the Court, the Court may direct that the proceedings be listed for final determination on the material that has been filed in the proceedings only.

Final Hearing

- (38) At least 2 working days before the hearing, the applicant shall prepare and distribute hearing books to the Court and all parties, which will contain copies of all applications, affidavits, reports and any other material to be relied upon by a party as identified in the filed case outlines.
- (39) The hearing will be conducted, as far as practicable on the basis that:
 - (a) each party's evidence-in-chief shall be given by way of affidavit;
 - (b) all witnesses are required to be available for cross-examination unless the parties agree in writing that the witnesses is not required;
 - (c) each party's case is substantially contained in the documentary material filed in accordance with this practice direction, and incorporated in the hearing book; and
 - (d) leave for examination-in-chief of witnesses shall only be given for necessary and reasonable explanation, correction or supplementation of the filed material and to eliciting responses to or comments on another party's case.

Hearing and determining Temporary Protection Order applications

(40) Applications for Temporary Protection Orders will be determined in Court and will not be heard and determined in Chambers.

Hearing and determining Permanent Care Order applications

(41) In the Children's Court at Darwin, all applications for Permanent Care Orders, shall be listed for mention at 9.30am on Thursdays. When the matter is ready to proceed as a final hearing, it will be listed at 2pm on a Thursday.

(42) Unless otherwise directed by the Court, at final hearings of applications for Permanent Care Orders, families of the parties are permitted to attend court and take photos.

Restrictions on Attendance

- (43) Pursuant to section 99 of the Act, except as otherwise ordered by the Court, it is an offence for a person to attend proceedings under the Act unless the person is a party to proceedings. Pursuant to section 101 of the Act, a party to proceedings has a right to be represented by a legal practitioner. The purpose of this Practice Direction is to clarify the Court's general position in relation to section 99 and how it applies to duty lawyers, legal practitioners, support persons, graduate clerks and legal interns.
- (44) At all times the Court retains the discretion to decide who may be present in the court room pursuant to section 99 of the Act and sections 37 and 38 of the *Local Court Act 2015*.
- (45) Unless otherwise directed by the Court, a legal practitioner offering duty lawyer services, is entitled to remain in the body of the court during matters in which the duty lawyer is not instructed.
- (46) Unless otherwise directed by the Court, a support worker employed by the legal service representing a party to proceedings (including on a duty basis) is entitled to remain in the body of the court during matters in which the legal service is instructed.
- (47) Any legal practitioner, graduate clerk or legal intern who is not representing a party to the proceedings, is not providing duty lawyer services and who wishes to remain in the body of the Court for the duration of a matter for educational or training purposes, must seek leave of the Court to remain in the body of the Court. The person seeking leave may do so by directly addressing the judge at the commencement of the proceedings or by informing the court orderly or the registrar prior to the commencement of proceedings of their identity and their reasons for requesting leave.

Duty lawyer services

- (48) Any legal practitioner wishing to offer duty lawyer services during the sittings of the Family Matters Division of the Local Court, shall inform the registry prior to the commencement of the sittings of the name of the duty lawyer and the organisation that they work for. The registry will inform the presiding Judge of the availability of the service on the day, and/or the Judge may inquire at the commencement of proceedings whether any duty lawyer services are available.
- (49) A legal practitioner appearing for a party on a duty lawyer basis is excused from filing a Notice of Intention to Appear in accordance with rule 7.11 of the *Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules* 1998, unless the Court orders otherwise.
- (50) If a legal practitioner appeared for a party on a duty lawyer basis, the registrar shall send the legal practitioner a copy of any order made on the day in which they appeared for the party.

Court lists

(51) The registrar of the Family Matters Division of the Local Court shall distribute an unredacted daily court list to legal organisations who offer duty lawyer services provided they have been approved by the Chief Judge to receive the list. Legal organisations seeking to be approved shall make a written request to the Chief Judge to be added to the email distribution list. The approval of legal organisations to receive the unredacted daily court list shall occur at the Chief Judge's sole discretion and on whatever terms or conditions to be determined by the Chief Judge.

Access to case files

- (52) Practice Direction 1 governs the way in which persons may access documents held on a case file. All persons should follow Practice Direction 1 where possible. However, if time, language barriers, distance or the custodial setting of a party prevents a legal practitioner from complying with Practice Direction 1, the following Practice Directions apply.
- (53) A legal practitioner who has not filed a Notice of Intention to Appear but who is instructed to represent a party on a duty lawyer basis, may obtain a copy of a document from the case file, if they inform registry orally or by email that they are instructed by a party to appear on a duty basis.
- (54) A legal practitioner who has not filed a Notice of Intention to Appear but who has been approached by a party seeking legal advice, may obtain a copy of a document from the case file, if they inform registry by email that they are providing legal advice to a party and the reasons why they are unable to comply with Practice Direction 1.

Return of Child under Section 109 of the Act

(55) For the purposes of section 109(3)(a) of *the Act*, the prescribed form can be found on the Local Court website.

Warrants

- (56) An application for a warrant for access to a child is to be made using the Warrant for Access to a Child form together with an affidavit in support of the application. This form can be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>.
- (57) If an application for a warrant for access to a child is successful, the Court shall issue the Warrant for Access to a Child Order. This form can be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>.

Electronic Filing

- (58) Pursuant to Rule 3.10(2) of the *Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules 1998* and section 104 of *the Act*, documents may be filed electronically in the Court registry in which the proceedings are or are intended to be listed.
- (59) Electronic filing of documents will be via email to the relevant, or nearest permanent, Court registry as set out below:

Darwin Children's Court: Darwin.ChildrensCourt@nt.gov.au;

Part 4 CHILDREN'S COURT PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 4E Care and Protection of Children

Alice Springs Local Court: ASLC.CivilRegistry@nt.gov.au; or

Katherine Local Court: Katherine.LocalCourt@nt.gov.au.

- (60) When filing a document electronically, each document will be in PDF format not exceeding 10MB, not less than A4 size and be capable of being printed in a clear and readable format (minimum of 200 DPI). If the proceedings have been given a court file number, that number must be clearly marked on the cover page of each document.
- (61) If accepted and received within the prescribed filing hours, a document will be taken to have been filed at the time it is received in the relevant Local Court email inbox.
- (62) The Court's prescribed filing hours are from 8.00 am until 4.00 pm weekdays (excluding public holidays). Any document received after 4.00 pm will be taken to have been filed the next business day.
- (63) In the event that the applicant wishes to have the matter (other than Applications for Temporary Protection Orders) listed at short notice, the applicant shall submit a covering letter with the application outlining the reasons for urgency.
- (64) Once a document has been accepted by the registry for electronic filing the Registrar will date and seal the document (and where necessary allocate a date and time for mention) before returning a copy of the sealed document/s by way of 'reply all' to the email address used by the filing party.
- (65) Acceptance of electronic documents will be at the discretion of the Registrar who may, by email, decline to accept a document for electronic filing should it fail to meet the requirements of this Practice Direction or any other requirements under the Rules.
- (66) Should a Registrar decline to accept a document electronically, the Registrar will notify the relevant party of the refusal via email and that party will be required to physically file sufficient copies of the document/s (including the original) for all relevant court files plus an additional copy for sealing and return.
- (67) A party having filed a document electronically pursuant to this Practice Direction will be responsible for the service of the document.
- (68) Parties are to allow for a 24 hour court registry turnaround from electronic filing to return of sealed copy.
- (69) Parties wishing to file electronically are responsible for ensuring the document/s have been successfully transmitted to the Court for filing. If a document sent for electronic filing is not returned by the Court within 24 hours, the relevant party is responsible for contacting the Court to confirm receipt of the document/s for filing.
- (70) Nothing in this part prevents a party from filing hard copy documents in person at the relevant Local Court registry.

Part 4 CHILDREN'S COURT PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 4F REVOKED

Practice Direction 4F REVOKED

(1) This Practice Direction was revoked on 5 February 2021.

Part 5 SPECIALIST JURISDICTIONS PRACTICE DIRECTIONS

Practice Direction 5A Domestic Violence

(1) This Practice Direction is issued pursuant to s 49(1) of the *Local Court Act 2016* and section 126(1) of the *Domestic and Family Violence Act 2007* to ensure the fair, expeditious and efficient conduct of domestic violence matters.

Approved Forms

- (2) Section 126(1) of the *Domestic and Family Violence Act 2007* ('the Act') provides for the approval of forms by the Chief Judge of the Local Court.
- (3) The following table outlines the approved forms, the template of the relevant document is found on the Local Court website.

Form name	Relevant Sections
Application for Domestic Violence Order	51, 52, 53 & 54
Application to Vary or Revoke Domestic Violence Order	71 & 103V
Police Application for Urgent Variation	82R
Application for Registration/Variation/Revocation or External Order	93 & 98
Affidavit	61(2)(b), 66(2)(b), 79(2)(b) & 82B(2)(b) & Part 22 Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules 1998
Notice of Hearing	54(5)
Statutory Declaration of Service	Part 6 <i>Local Court (Civil</i> Jurisdiction) Rules 1998
Summons to Defendant to Show Cause	31, 43, 81, & 82Y
Application to Review Police Order	35
Domestic Violence Undertaking	44(4) of the Local Court Act 2015
Notice of Registration/Variation/Cancelation of External Order	95 & 100
Summons to a Person to Appear or to Appear and Produce Documents	Part 23 Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules 1998
Notice to Landlord	23(4) & PD 5.01(14) & 5.01(15)
Service Information Form	

Affidavits

(4) When an Applicant files an Application for a Domestic Violence Order, an Application to Vary or Revoke a Domestic Violence Order, or an Application for Variation or Revocation of External Order under section 98 of the Act, the application shall be accompanied by an affidavit (initial affidavit) in support of the application.

Part 5 SPECIALIST JURISDICTIONS PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 5A Domestic Violence

- (5) A party shall not, without leave of the Court, file an initial affidavit that exceeds 10 pages, with a maximum of an additional 10 pages of annexures. However, any court orders, judgments or parenting plans annexed to an affidavit shall not count towards the annexure limitation.
- (6) Pursuant to sections 61(2)(b), 66(2)(b), 79(2)(b) and 82(2)(b) of the Act, the Court may order parties to file further affidavits, with such further affidavits having no size limitation, unless otherwise ordered by the Court.

Service Information Form

(7) When an applicant (other than a police officer) files an Application for a Domestic Violence Order or an application to Vary or Revoke a Domestic Violence Order, the applicant shall provide the Court with sufficient information to locate and identify the defendant by filing a Service Information Form.

Review of Police Domestic Violence Orders under Part 2.4, Division 2

- (8) When a party to a police issued domestic violence order requests a review of that order, the police officer to whom that request is made shall:
 - (a) provide the applicant with a copy of Application to Review a Police Order, to complete and if necessary, assist that person to complete the form;
 - (b) arrange for the applicant to sign an affidavit outlining what information they wish to put before the Judge;
 - (c) provide the completed forms to the Court;
 - (d) assist the applicant in his/her application to the Court, including arranging appropriate interpreters if necessary; and
 - (e) explain the result of the review to the applicant and the reasons given by the Court.
- (9) An Application to Review a Police Order shall be made to the nearest Local Court within business hours of that registry. If the Court registry is not open, subject to 5A(10) the application may be to the on-call Judge.
- (10) A Judge should only be contacted out of hours if the police officer is satisfied that there is a real threat of imminent actual violence or intimidation on the protected person and in all the circumstances, it is necessary to contact a Judge out of hours.

Applications by a Police Officer for an Urgent Variation under section 82S

- (11) When a police officer makes application pursuant to section 82S for a variation of a Local Court DVO or a Police DVO, the officer shall use a Police Application for Urgent Variation Order Form.
- (12) The application shall be made to the nearest Local Court within business hours of that registry. If the Court registry is not open, then, subject to direction 5A(13), the application may be to the on-call Judge.

(13) A Judge should only be contacted out of hours if the police officer is satisfied that there is a real threat of imminent actual violence or intimidation on the protected person and in all the circumstances, it is necessary to contact a Judge out of hours.

Replacement Tenancy Agreement

- (14) If a party files an application seeking an order under section 23(2), to either create a new tenancy agreement or to terminate a tenancy agreement, the applicant shall notify the landlord of the application prior to the hearing of the application.
- (15) Notice to the landlord in accordance with 5A(14) shall occur by serving on the landlord with a copy of the Notice to Landlord, no less than two business days prior to the hearing of the application.

Domestic Violence Undertaking

- (16) At any stage in proceedings under the *Domestic and Family Violence Act 2007*, a party may make an undertaking to the Court by filing a completed Domestic Violence Undertaking Form.
- (17) The proceedings are not ended when a defendant makes an Undertaking to the Court unless the applicant also withdraws the application and the Court dismisses the application.

Access to Court Files

- (18) Practice Direction 1 of 2019 governs access to court files.
- (19) If a document names a child as a protected person, witness or who is otherwise mentioned as reasonably likely to be involved in the proceedings, the registry shall ensure that the child's name and details are obscured from any inspection of that document in accordance with section 123 of the *Domestic and Family Violence Act 2007*.

Affidavits by Legal Practitioners

- (20) In the event that an Applicant is unable to print an affidavit for signing or is unable to file an affidavit signed by the Applicant, a legal practitioner may, subject to 5A(21), lodge an affidavit or statutory declaration in support of the Application.
- (21) In the event that a legal practitioner is instructed to lodge an affidavit in support of an application in accordance with 5A(20), the legal practitioner's affidavit must:
 - (a) State why the Applicant was unable to sign or lodge their own affidavit or statutory declaration;
 - (b) Annexe a copy of the Applicant's unsigned affidavit or statutory declaration; and
 - (c) Attest as to whether the Applicant's unsigned affidavit or statutory declaration was read to the applicant over the telephone and whether the applicant confirmed that the contents were true and correct to the best of their knowledge, information and belief.

Part 5 SPECIALIST JURISDICTIONS PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 5A Domestic Violence

- (22) A legal practitioner filing an affidavit in accordance with 5A(20) should arrange for the applicant to be available by telephone at the time of the court event, to provide brief clarification or to give evidence if required.
- (23) Nothing in this practice direction affects the discretion a judicial officer has in determining the appropriate weight to be given to any affidavit or statutory declaration filed in accordance with 5A(20).

Practice Direction 5AA Specialist Domestic and Family Violence List – Alice Springs

(1) The following Practice Direction is issued in accordance with section 35(3) of the *Local Court Act 2015* and will apply from 15 September 2020.

Part A – Introduction and Purpose

- (2) The Specialist Domestic and Family Violence List ('SDFVL') operates as part of the Criminal Division in the Local Court in Alice Springs and exercises civil jurisdiction under the Domestic and Family Violence Act 2007 (DFV Act). It operates as a specialist domestic and family violence list for defendants in criminal proceedings who have elected to plead guilty to a domestic violence offence and for DFV Act defendants who consent to the making of a rehabilitation order as part of a court DVO. The specialist list operates in accordance with applicable legislation including the Bail Act 1982 and the Sentencing Act 1995.
- (3) The purpose of the SDFVL is to:
 - (a) Encourage offenders to take responsibility for their offending behaviour;
 - (b) Provide a pathway for suitable offenders to access services which will address their offending behaviour and help them to stop using violence;
 - (c) Provide the opportunity for victims to engage with services which will enhance their safety, in particular during court proceedings and while offenders are undergoing rehabilitation programs; and
 - (d) Resolve domestic violence offence proceedings fairly and expeditiously in accordance with the objectives in s 60AB of the *Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928*.
- (4) The provision of a Men's Offender Assessment Referral Service (MOARS) worker and a Women's Safety Worker (WSW) are key features of the operation of the SDFVL in order to assist the court in achieving these aims.
- (5) This practice direction provides a framework for the management of matters referred to the SDFVL. The forms required for the SDFVL can be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>.

Part B - Domestic Violence Offence Proceedings

Domestic Violence Offences

- (6) In this practice direction, 'domestic violence offence' and 'domestic violence offence have the meanings given in s 21G of the *Evidence Act 1939*.
- (7) This practice direction applies only to domestic and family violence offences that are to proceed summarily in accordance with the *Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928.*

Referral to the SDFVL

- (8) A defendant to a domestic violence offence proceeding who:
 - (a) indicates an intention to enter a plea of guilty; and
 - (b) indicates an intention to consent to a DVO under the DFV Act which includes an order requiring the defendant to undergo a rehabilitation program in accordance with s 24 of that Act,
 - may apply for their case to be referred to the SDFVL.
- (9) Applications for referral to the SDFVL may be made at a mention of a matter before the Court or in writing using an application to relist form. In all cases an application must be accompanied by a completed SDFVL referral form.
- (10) Domestic violence offence proceedings where there is an indication of a plea of guilty but the facts are in dispute will not be considered for acceptance to the SDFVL until the factual dispute is resolved.
- (11) A domestic violence offence proceeding in which an application for referral to the SDFVL has been received will be mentioned at the next available SDFVL day, usually the next Wednesday.
- (12) Where there is a separate but related file in relation to a private application for a DVO or confirmation of a Police DVO, the DVO file will be mentioned in the SDFVL at the same time as the domestic violence offence proceeding.

First mention in the SDFVL

- (13) At the first mention in the SDFVL the Court will consider all relevant circumstances including:
 - (a) Capacity of the SDFVL to manage the matter, noting that places on the SDFVL may be capped;
 - (b) Availability of suitable rehabilitation programs;
 - (c) Confirmation by the defendant of indication of plea of guilty and their consent to assessment for and to undertake a rehabilitation program, and preparation of the risk assessment report; and
 - (d) Whether it is likely to be appropriate for a defendant to be on bail until they are sentenced in order to facilitate their attendance at a rehabilitation program;
 - and will determine whether to request a risk assessment report and, if appropriate, a bail supervision suitability report in order to determine whether the defendant is suitable for the SDFVL.

- (14) If the Court determines that the defendant is suitable for an assessment for inclusion in the SDFVL the matter will be adjourned for 14 days, or such other time as is appropriate, to allow appropriate reports to be prepared.
- (15) During the adjournment a risk assessment report will be prepared by a program facilitator (for example the MOARS worker) and provided to the DV Registrar. All risk ratings and reports must be placed in a sealed envelope on the relevant file.
- (16) The risk assessment report will include a risk ranking and may also include suggestions as to the suitability of an ancillary program. Where an ancillary program is suggested, further assessment or advice from a relevant provider may be requested.
- (17) A defendant will not be considered for acceptance on the SDFVL unless they are suitable to participate in a rehabilitation program, even if they are suitable to participate in an ancillary program.
- (18) The DV Registrar will liaise with the Women's Safety Worker or other appropriate service provider to give all adult protected persons, or potential protected persons, an opportunity to undertake risk assessment and safety planning. A protected person's participation is entirely voluntary. A risk assessment report relating to a protected person may be provided to the Court with the consent of the protected person and may be considered on the making of a DVO.

Second mention in the SDFVL

- (19) After receipt of the risk assessment report the Court will make a decision as to whether the defendant is suitable to participate in the SDFVL. In making that decision the Court will hear the parties (which in relation to the making of a DVO includes a protected person) and may have regard to:
 - (a) The charges to which the defendant proposes to plead guilty;
 - (b) The risk assessment report and whether the defendant is suitable to undertake a rehabilitation program;
 - (c) Whether the defendant is suitable for bail until they are sentenced based on factors to be considered under s 24 of the *Bail Act 1982* including any bail supervision suitability report which has been provided;
 - (d) The defendant's criminal history and any other material which might be considered on a bail application, such as previous failures to comply with bail conditions or court orders;
 - (e) Whether it is appropriate to make a DVO under the DFV Act and the terms of any such DVO;

- (f) Matters relevant to the safety of a protected person or potential protected person having regard to the paramountcy of the safety and protection of a protected person under s 24(1A) of the DFV Act when making an order for a rehabilitation program including wishes of the protected person and any risk assessment done;
- (g) The defendant's continued consent to attend at a rehabilitation program;
- (h) Whether there is a place available on a rehabilitation program; and
- (i) Any other relevant circumstance.
- (20) If a defendant is not accepted for participation in the SDFVL the matter will be dealt with in accordance with usual procedures. If required by the circumstances of the case the sentencing hearing may be conducted by a judge who was not sitting in the SDFVL when the risk assessment report was considered.
- (21) If the defendant is found suitable for participation in the SDFVL and elects to continue the following procedure will apply:
 - (a) If they have not already done so, the defendant will enter a plea of guilty to the charge(s);
 - (b) A court DVO will be made;
 - (c) The court DVO will include an order under s 24 of the DFV Act requiring the defendant to take part in a rehabilitation program;
 - (d) The offender will be granted bail pending sentencing on conditions determined by the Court taking into account the need for consistency between bail conditions, DVO conditions and any other relevant orders in order to facilitate attendance at the rehabilitation program; and
 - (e) A review mention timetable will be set.

Review Mentions

- (22) Review mentions are conducted pursuant to Part 2.11A of the DFV Act. Offenders (who will also be defendants under the DFV Act) are to attend review mentions and should expect to engage directly with the court.
- (23) A victim may attend a review mention if they wish and may use a vulnerable witness room or other court facility if arranged with the DV Registrar.
- (24) Prior to a review mention a program facilitator will provide a participation notice under s 85D(3)(c) of the DFV Act.

(25) If the Court receives a non-compliance notice from a program facilitator under s 84E(3) of the DFV Act the Court must hold a review mention.

Failure to Comply

- (26) The Court may compel the attendance of a defendant in accordance with s 85F of the DFV Act, or under any other power held by the Court.
- (27) The Court may revoke a rehabilitation order in the circumstances set out in s 85G of the DFV Act.
- (28) Where a rehabilitation order is revoked the proceeding will no longer be suitable for participation in the SDFVL and arrangements will be made to proceed to sentence. The Court will consider whether the offender should remain on bail.

Satisfactory Completion of a Rehabilitation Order

- (29) The requirements for satisfactory completion of a rehabilitation order are set out in s 85B of the DFV Act. The Court may find that an offender has satisfactorily completed a rehabilitation program notwithstanding a failure to comply with a requirement where a finding that they did not complete the program would be unjust.
- (30) Upon completion of a rehabilitation program an offender will be sentenced in accordance with the *Sentencing Act 1995*.

Part C – DVO Proceedings where there is no related criminal file

- (31) A defendant to a court DVO proceeding may be ordered to participate in a rehabilitation program as set out in s 24 of the DFV Act.
- (32) An applicant, protected person or a defendant in a DVO proceeding who seeks to have an order for participation in a rehabilitation program included in a court DVO may apply to have the proceeding considered in the SDFVL.
- (33) Applications may be made at a mention of a matter before the Court or in writing using an application to relist form. In all cases an application must be accompanied by a completed SDFVL referral form.
- (34) A proceeding in which an application for referral to the SDFVL has been received will be mentioned at the next available SDFVL day, usually the next Wednesday.
- (35) At the first mention in the SDFVL the Court will consider all relevant circumstances including:
 - (a) Whether the defendant indicates that they will consent to the making of an order under s 24 of the DFV Act:

- (b) Capacity of the SDFVL to manage the proceeding, noting that places on the SDFVL may be capped; and
- (c) Availability of suitable rehabilitation programs;
 - and will determine whether to request an assessment of the defendant's suitability for the SDFVL.
- (36) If the Court determines that the defendant is potentially suitable for an assessment for inclusion on the SDFVL the proceeding will be adjourned for 14 days, or such other time as is appropriate, to allow a risk assessment report to be prepared. Consent by the defendant to the preparation of the risk assessment report is a condition for participation in the SDFVL.
- (37) During the adjournment a risk assessment report will be prepared by a program facilitator for a rehabilitation program (for example the MOARS worker) and provided to the DV Registrar.
- (38) The DV Registrar will liaise with the Women's Safety Worker or other appropriate service provider to give all adult protected persons, or potential protected persons, an opportunity to undertake risk assessment and safety planning. A protected person's participation is entirely voluntary. A risk assessment report relating to a protected person may be provided to the Court with the consent of the protected person and may be considered on the making of a DVO.
- (39) At the next appropriate mention of the matter after receipt of the risk assessment report the Court will consider whether to make an order under s 24 of the DFV.
- (40) When making a court DVO including an order under s 24 the Court may set a review timetable in accordance with s 85E(1) of the DFV Act.

Part D - Definitions

- (41) In this practice direction:
 - (a) 'ancillary program' means a program, referred to in s 24(1B) of the DFV Act, which is not a rehabilitation program but which may address a factor which has contributed to offending and may include alcohol or other drug programs, anger management programs, parenting programs, or any other suitable counselling or treatment.
 - (b) 'court DVO' has the meaning in the DFV Act (and includes a s 41 Police DVO which is confirmed by a court).
 - (c) 'defendant' has the meaning in the *Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928* and in the DFV Act as the context demands.
 - (d) 'offender' has the meaning in the Sentencing Act 1995.

- (e) 'rehabilitation program' means a rehabilitation program as defined in the DFV Act.
- (f) 'risk assessment report' means a report to the Court prepared by a program facilitator summarising their findings as to the suitability of a defendant/offender to attend a rehabilitation program.

Practice Direction 5AB Contested Criminal Proceedings involving Domestic and Family Violence – Alice Springs

- (1) The following Practice Direction is issued in accordance with section 35(3) of the *Local Act* 2015 and will apply from 15 September 2020.
- (2) The purpose of this practice direction is to ensure that proceedings involving domestic and family violence in the Criminal Division of the Local Court at Alice Springs are resolved as fairly and expeditiously as possible in accordance with the objectives set out in s 60AB of the Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928.³
- (3) In this practice direction, 'domestic violence offence' and 'domestic violence offence proceeding' have the meanings given in s 21G of the *Evidence Act 1939*.
- (4) This practice direction applies to domestic violence offence proceedings in the Local Court at Alice Springs to which Division 2A of the Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928 applies.
- (5) At the first mention of a domestic violence offence proceeding a defendant will be asked to indicate whether they will be contesting the charge(s). Where a defendant is unable to indicate whether the charge(s) is contested on the first mention the matter may be adjourned for up to 14 days.
- (6) Where a defendant indicates that a charge(s) is contested, or on a second mention remains unable to indicate whether or not the charge(s) is contested, the matter will be scheduled as follows:
 - (a) A directions hearing approximately 4 weeks after the first mention;
 - (b) A prospective hearing date will be reserved within 8 − 10 weeks (or as close to that time as the court diary permits); and
 - (c) A case management inquiry mention will be scheduled approximately two weeks before the hearing date.
- (7) Where a complaint or information includes a charge(s) which is a domestic violence offence and another charge(s) which is not a domestic violence offence but should be heard at the same time, the presiding judge may determine the extent to which this practice direction will apply.

_

³ See s 35(2) of the *Local Court Act* for legislation regulating the conduct of criminal proceedings generally.

Part 5 SPECIALIST JURISDICTIONS PRACTICE DIRECTIONS

Practice Direction 5AB Contested Criminal Proceedings involving Domestic and Family Violence – Alice Springs

- (8) It is expected that prosecution and defence will have fully complied with their respective obligations in Subdivision 2 of Division 2A of the *Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928* by the time appointed for the directions hearing.
- (9) In addition to the matters required by s 60AJ of the *Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act* 1928 to be indicated by the prosecution at the directions hearing the prosecution should:
 - (a) Indicate whether they have made inquiries and are aware of any circumstances which make it likely that a witness may object to giving evidence under s 18 of the *Evidence* (*National Uniform Legislation*) *Act 2011* at the hearing and if so whether that witness has been directed to a service which may provide him/her with independent legal advice prior to the hearing;⁴
 - (b) Indicate whether any vulnerable witness(es) as defined by s 21AB of the Evidence Act 1939 will require use of vulnerable witness rooms or other particular court facilities for the hearing;
 - (c) Indicate whether the prosecution will be relying upon a recorded statement as defined in s 21G of the *Evidence Act 1939* and if so what if any special arrangements will be made for the playing of that statement during the hearing, including the length of the statement;
 - (d) Whether a copy of the recorded statement has been served upon the defendant (audio only) or the defendant's legal practitioner as applicable;
 - Indicate whether any witness will be using interpreter services at the hearing, including as to any recorded statement;
 - (f) Indicate whether any other special arrangements are required for witnesses, for example audio-visual links; and
 - (g) Provide advice as to any other circumstance of which they are aware which may affect the conduct or duration of the hearing.
- (10) The information required to be provided at the directions hearing must be included on the domestic violence proceeding directions hearing form which is on the <u>Local Court website</u>.
- (11) Where a vulnerable witness is to give evidence at a hearing and a defendant is not represented by a legal practitioner the Court will inquire as to whether the defendant is aware of the requirements of s 21QA of the Evidence Act 1939 and will if necessary set a date to determine whether the defendant will be granted leave to cross-examine the witness. If leave is not granted the Court will proceed in accordance with s 21QB of the Evidence Act 1939 including making any necessary procedural orders to give effect to the requirements of that section.

_

⁴ It is the Court's obligation to satisfy itself that a witness is aware of the effect of s 18 of the ENULA as it might apply to that person at the hearing.

Part 5 SPECIALIST JURISDICTIONS PRACTICE DIRECTIONS

Practice Direction 5AB Contested Criminal Proceedings involving Domestic and Family Violence – Alice Springs

- (12) The hearing date will be confirmed or varied as required at the directions hearing.
- (13) At the case management inquiry:
 - (a) Prosecution will indicate:
 - (i) Whether all witnesses are available (e.g. summons' served or as appropriate) and that the matter is ready to proceed as scheduled;
 - (ii) Arrangements for witnesses are confirmed as indicated at the directions hearing and any changes advised; and
 - (b) Defence will indicate whether the matter is ready to proceed.

Practice Direction 5B Treatment Orders

- (1) Section 36(2) of the *Volatile Substance Abuse Prevention Act 2005* (*the Act*) provides that an application for a treatment order must be in the form approved by the Chief Judge. Similarly, section 37(2) of *the Act* provides that an application for an order in connection with a treatment order (for example an order to vary, extend or revoke a treatment order) must be in the form approved by the Chief Judge.
- (2) The purpose of this Practice Direction is to approve and prescribe the form which is to be completed and filed in the Local Court when a treatment order or an order in connection with a treatment order is sought by the Chief Health Officer (or a delegate).

The Approved and Prescribed Form of Application

(3) An application for a treatment order or an order in connection with a treatment order is to be made by use of an Application for Treatment Order form. This form can be found on the Local Court website.

Practice Direction 5C Adoption of Children

Adoption Hearing Aide-memoire

- (1) Following the fixing of the proceedings for a pre-hearing conference in accordance with rule 6(2)(a) of the *Local Court (Adoption of Children) Rules 1994* (the Rules), the applicant shall prepare a draft of an aide-memoire and provide the draft copy of the aide-memoire to all parties and to the Court no less than 24 hours prior to the pre-hearing conference.
- (2) The draft of the aide-memoire to be prepared in accordance with direction 5C(1), may be provided to the Court and all parties via email.
- (3) The aide-memoire shall be in accordance with the Adoption Hearing Aide-Memoire Form. This form can be found on the Local Court website. The aide-memoire shall address:
 - (a) the matters of which the Court must be satisfied to make an order for adoption, by stating whether the requirements are met and referring to the relevant paragraphs within the Rule 6(3) affidavit that provide evidence of compliance; and
 - (b) provide an outline of the particulars required to complete the Form 5 Memorandum of Order.
- (4) Following the fixing of the proceedings for hearing of the application in accordance with Rule 8A(3)(b)(ii), and no less than three days prior to the hearing, the applicant shall file and serve the aide-memoire.
- (5) The applicant shall serve a sealed copy of the aide-memoire on:
 - (a) the Solicitor for the Northern Territory for and on behalf of the Minister; and
 - (b) each person who wishes to be a party to the proceedings and whose name and address for service has been advised to the applicant in accordance with section 39(3) of the *Adoption of Children Act 1994*.

Practice Direction 5D Mental Health Diversion List

- (1) The Mental Health Diversion List (MHDL) commenced as a specialist mental health list as part of the Criminal Division of the Local Court at Darwin in 2016. It is not a separate and distinct court created by legislation, but created as a specialist list based on various provisions of the *Bail Act 1982*, the *Mental Health and Related Services Act 1998* (the Act) and the Sentencing Act 1995.
- (2) The purpose of the MHDL is to provide a process for diverting offenders with a mental illness/disturbance or cognitive impairment from the mainstream criminal justice system into a specialist list which had the following aims:
 - (a) to assist those people to address their mental health or cognitive impairment needs related to their criminal behaviour;
 - (b) to improve their mental health and general well-being;
 - (c) to improve the safety of the community and reduce recidivism; and
 - (d) to reduce the use of criminal justice punishment for criminal behaviour related to mental health issues and cognitive impairment.
- (3) A key feature of the MHDL is the allocation of court clinicians from Forensic Mental Health Services to assist the court in achieving these aims.
- (4) The purpose of this practice direction is to formally acknowledge the continuing existence of the MHDL and to replace earlier guidelines with a framework for the management of matters referred to the MHDL. All forms referred to in this Practice Direction can be found on the Local Court website.

Referral to the MHDL

- (5) The MHDL is conducted in the Local Court at Nichols Place in Darwin on Thursdays or on such other specific days and time that may be advised from time to time.
- (6) An offender is eligible to be referred to the MHDL if he or she appears to have a mental illness or mental disturbance (within the meaning of *the Act*), a cognitive impairment, acquired brain injury or an autism spectrum disorder whether the offender intends to plead guilty or not guilty to a summary matter or an indictable matter that is capable for being heard summarily even if the matter must proceed by way of a preliminary examination.
- (7) An offender may be referred to the MHDL at any stage of proceedings in the Local Court.
- (8) Having regard to the appearance and behaviour of the offender when brought before the Court and any information given to the Court during the proceedings, the Court may on its own motion or on application by the offender, his or her legal representative or the prosecutor refer the offender to the MHDL immediately if the MHDL is being conducted that day or to the next sitting day of the MHDL.

Part 5 SPECIALIST JURISDICTIONS PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 5D Mental Health Diversion List

- (9) The offender may be referred to the MHDL whether or not the offender consents to the referral; however, depending on the circumstances, the offender may be removed from the list if he or she does not consent to being assessed by a court clinician or fails to authorise a court clinician to obtain such information as is necessary to carry out the assessment.
- (10) At the time of referral the Court may do one of more of the following:
 - (a) In accordance with the Bail Act 1982 grant the offender bail to appear in the MDHL upon such conditions as it considers appropriate or remand the offender in custody. If the offender is granted bail, the offender is to appear in the MHDL on a date that is not less than seven days from the date of referral. If the offender is refused bail, the offender is to be remanded in custody to appear in the MHDL immediately (if the list is being conducted that day) or on the next sitting day of the MHDL.
 - (b) Request a pre-assessment advice pursuant to section 74 of *the Act* regarding the availability of resources to assess whether the offender is in need of treatment under *the Act* by completing a Section 74 Pre-assessment Advice Order Form.
 - (c) Request a preliminary report from a court clinician concerning any matter that is relevant to the mental health or functioning of the offender (including whether the offender is at risk of self-harm) and as to whether a certificate under section 77 of the Act is warranted by completing a Preliminary Request for Section 77 Certificate Form.

Actions the Court may take Following Referral to the MHDL

- (11) Request a pre-assessment advice under s74 of the Act if not already requested.
- (12) After receiving written advice from the Chief Health Officer under either section 74(3)(b) or section 73 (c) of *the Act*, order an assessment and report under section 74A (1) or (2) of *the Act* by completing an Section 74A Assessment Order Form and adjourn the proceedings for the purposes of obtaining that report.
- (13) After receiving a report under section 74A of the Act make an admission order under section 75 by completing a Section 75 Admission Order Form and adjourn the proceedings for the purposes of obtaining that report.
- (14) Request a preliminary report from a court clinician in the terms of 5D(10)(a).
- (15) Request a certificate from the Chief Health Officer under section 77 of *the Act* after receiving a preliminary report from a court clinician stating that a certificate is warranted; but decline to request a certificate if the preliminary report indicates that a certificate is not warranted unless the Court is satisfied that there is sufficient cause to request a certificate.
- (16) Notwithstanding the previous paragraph, request a certificate from the Chief Health Officer under section 77 of *the Act* without first obtaining a preliminary report from a court clinician, if in the opinion of the Court the circumstances of the case clearly warrant a request for a section 77 certificate. The Court shall request a section 77 certificate by completing the Request for a Section 77 Certificate form.

Part 5 SPECIALIST JURISDICTIONS PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 5D Mental Health Diversion List

- (17) At the time of requesting a section 77 certificate, direct that the report upon which the certificate is based be made available to the Court at the same time the certificate is provided to the Court.
- (18) Hear and determine an application for bail or review a decision in relation to court bail in accordance with section 34 of the *Bail Act 1982*, notwithstanding the offender may have previously been refused bail prior to or at the time of referral to the MHDL.⁵
- (19) Order a bail assessment/supervision report to be prepared in conjunction with a court clinician for the purposes of the bail application or bail review by completing the Order for Pre-Sentence and Suitability Reports Form.
- (20) Upon receipt of such a report grant bail upon such conditions as it considers appropriate or refuse bail and remand the offender in custody.
- (21) Conduct a hearing under section 77 of *the Act* to determine whether charges being dealt with summarily should be dismissed;
- (22) Case manage in the MHDL an indictable matter that must proceed by way of a preliminary examination and conduct the preliminary examination provided that there are mental/cognitive impairment issues that may raise a fitness to plead issue or mental impairment defence in the Supreme Court;
- (23) Give a sentence indication pursuant to section 60AT(2) of the *Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928* provided mental health issues or a cognitive impairment are relied upon as a mitigating factor;
- (24) Hear and determine a plea of guilty and pass sentence in relation to either a summary matter or an indictable matter that is capable of being with summarily provided mental health issues or a cognitive impairment are relied upon as a mitigating factor;
- (25) For the purposes of determining the appropriate sentence for an offender order a supervision assessment under section 103 of the Sentencing Act 1995 and direct that such assessment be conducted in conjunction with the court clinician by completing the Order for Pre-Sentence and Suitability Reports Form.
- (26) Order any other assessment under the *Sentencing Act 1995* including a full pre-sentence report, psychiatric report or psychological report for the purposes of sentencing by completing the Order for Pre-Sentence and Suitability Reports Form.
- Order an assessment of, and if appropriate a treatment plan for, an offender under section 78 of *the Act* by competing the Section 78 Voluntary Treatment Plan Order Form.
- (28) Adjourn the proceedings and grant bail to an offender on the condition that the offender enter into an agreement under section 78A of *the Act* to participate in a voluntary treatment plan.

_

⁵ The transfer of the matter to the MHDL is considered to be a change of circumstances warranting a review of bail for the purposes of the *Bail Act*.

Part 5 SPECIALIST JURISDICTIONS PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 5D Mental Health Diversion List

- (29) Following a finding of guilt, order an assessment under section 79 of the Sentencing Act 1995 to determine suitability for an approved treatment facility order. The assessment shall be ordered by completing the Order for Pre-Sentence and Suitability Reports Form.
- (30) To the extent that the performance of any of the above functions requires an assessment of the offender, the offender must consent to such assessment by a court clinician and/or probation and parole officer and authorise the release to such persons of all such information as is necessary to enable the assessment to be conducted.
- (31) When ordering a report in the MHDL the Court must specify the date that the report is required (the court date) if the report cannot be made available on the day that the matter is dealt with. Reports may not be accessed by any party to the proceedings prior to the presiding Judge making an order either in Chambers or in Court that the report be published and made available to the parties.

Removal of Offender from the MHDL

- (32) The Court may at any time remove an offender from the MHDL if the offender does not require care or treatment under *the Act* and:
 - (a) the offender intends to plead not guilty to charges by way of a summary hearing rather than seek to have the charges dismissed pursuant to section 77 of the Act, or
 - (b) the offender intends to plead guilty to charges without seeking to rely upon mental health issues or a cognitive impairment as a mitigating factor; or
 - (c) in relation to a matter that must proceed by way of a preliminary examination there are no mental health issues or a cognitive impairment that may give rise to a fitness to plead issue or a mental impairment defence in the Supreme Court; or
 - (d) the offender fails to comply with 5D(30) and the offender's failure to give the requisite consent is not due to a mental illness or mental disturbance or cognitive impairment and no useful purpose would be served by the offending remaining in the MHDL.
- (33) If an offender is removed from the MHDL in accordance with 5D(32) the offender is not precluded from being referred back to the MHDL upon sufficient cause being demonstrated.

Conduct of Matters in the MHDL

(34) Matters referred to the MHDL are be conducted with such expedition as the requirements of the Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928, the Act and a proper consideration of the matter permits.

Consent to Summary Jurisdiction in the MHDL

- (35) The fact that an indictable offence that is capable of being heard and determined summarily is referred to the MHDL does not, for the purposes of section 121A of the *Local Court* (*Criminal Procedure*) *Act 1928*, signify that:
 - (a) the defendant consents to the charge being disposed of summarily; and

Part 5 SPECIALIST JURISDICTIONS PRACTICE DIRECTIONS Practice Direction 5D Mental Health Diversion List

- (b) the prosecutor consents to the charge being disposed of summarily; and
- (c) the Court is of the opinion that the charge should be heard and determined summarily.

Practice Direction 5E Katherine Sitting Times

- (1) Over time, the number of matters and the sitting hours have increased within the Katherine Court. Whilst larger courts and legal practices can share workload and resources, the nature and isolation of the Katherine Court inhibit the ability to do so. The workload of the judiciary, the administrative staff and the legal practitioners now poses an issue for health and well-being.
- (2) This Practice Direction regulates the hours of the Court and procedures for dealing with lengthy lists, as well as procedures for managing youth justice and family matters listings.

Sitting Hours

- (3) The sitting hours of the Court will be from 10.00am to 4.30pm. The Court will adjourn at or before 1.00pm and not sit again until 2.00pm.
- (4) A judge may adjourn a part heard matter to commence no earlier than 9.00am.

List Management

- (5) Should a party be aware that a non-contested matter may be lengthy, that is, of an hour or more duration, they shall notify the Registrar and/or the Judge as early as possible, and inquiries will be made as to whether a judge may be available at another location to hear the matter by audio visual link.
- (6) Should parties have witnesses or defendants that require interpreters, they shall inform the Court as soon as they are aware of any time restraints on the interpreter service.

Youth Justice and Family Matters

- (7) In compliance with the relevant Acts for separation of adult and child proceedings, all youth justice matters and care and protection applications will be heard in the Hearing Room and except where urgency dictates, shall only be listed on designated Youth Justice Court or Care and Protection days.
- (8) There are two exceptions to the above rule:
 - (a) Where the youth is now an adult and has adult case files as well;
 - (b) Where the security of the public or the youth may be risk because of the lack of a custodial dock.
- (9) In determining whether to hear a youth court matter in Court Room One the sitting Judge will hear advice from the custodial service.
- (10) On designated Youth Justice or Care and Protection days no other matters are to be listed or adjourned, apart from overnight remands from the police watch house, except when two Judges are sitting.

Practice Direction 5F De Facto Relationships

- (1) The purpose of this practice direction is to regulate the procedures for commencing proceedings under the *De Facto Relationships Act 1991*.
- (2) Proceedings for orders, declarations, and other relief under Part 2 of the *De Facto Relationships Act 1991* are to be commenced by filing an inter parte Originating Application.
- (3) The Originating Application shall be accompanied by an affidavit supporting the application to be served with the Originating Application.
- (4) The application will then be dealt with pursuant to Division 2 of Part 7 of the *Local Court* (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules 1998.

Practice Direction 5G Application for Disease Test Order

- (1) Any application to be made pursuant to section 147FH of the *Police Administration Act* 1978 should be commenced using a Form 7F as an Originating Application Between Parties When Early Hearing is Required and rule 7.15 of the *Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules* 1998 shall apply to the listing of the application.
- (2) An affidavit in support should be filed at the time of filing the application.

Practice Direction 5H Personal Violence Restraining Orders

(1) The purpose of this Practice Direction is to prescribe forms to be used in proceedings commenced under the Personal Violence Restraining Order Act 2016.

Affidavits

(2) When an Applicant files an Application for a Personal Violence Restraining Order or an Application to Vary or Revoke a Personal Violence Restraining Order, the application shall be accompanied by an affidavit in support of the application. The Affidavit form be found on the Local Court website.

Referral to Mediation

(3) The Court may refer a matter to mediation under section 14(1), by completing a referral to Community Justice Centre form. The form be found on the <u>Local Court website</u>.

Practice Direction 5I Community Court Sentencing Procedure (Adult)

(1) The following Practice Direction is issued in accordance with section 49 (1)(a) and (b) of *the Local Court Act 2015 NT* and will apply from 29th January 2024.

Part A - Introduction and Purpose

- (2) This Practice Direction applies where an offender is to be sentenced in accordance with the Community Court Sentencing Procedure set out in Division 3A of the Sentencing Act 1995 NT. A reference to Community Court in this Practice Direction is a reference to the Community Court Sentencing Procedure.
- (3) The aim of the Community Court is to:
 - (a) Increase Aboriginal community participation and confidence in the criminal justice system.
 - (b) Facilitate a better understanding by the Court of any underlying issues leading to offending by Aboriginal offenders.
 - (c) Provide support to victims of crime and enhance their rights through participation in the Community Court process.
 - (d) Provide more culturally appropriate, restorative and effective sentencing options.

And thereby:

- (e) Increase the offender's prospects of rehabilitation and reparation to the community.
- (f) Reduce causes of re-offending by Aboriginal offenders.
- (g) Reduce the rate of breaches of court orders by Aboriginal offenders.
- (h) Reduce the over-representation of Aboriginal persons in the Northern Territory justice system.
- (i) Increase compliance with court orders by Aboriginal offenders.
- (i) Reduce the number of victims of crime.
- (4) The Community Court is a delivery of justice that provides community-based approaches when sentencing Aboriginal offenders. The Community Court sentencing decisions are assisted by Law and Judge Group members through the provision of Aboriginal Experience Reports and participation in the sentencing process. The Community Court is a "whole of community" process and encourages inclusive collaboration between the Court, legal practitioners, victims, offenders, stakeholders and community members.

Part B – Establishment of the Community Court

- (5) In supporting community ownership, each Law and Justice Group where the Community Court sits will be invited to:
 - (a) Reflect and consider naming the Community Court; and
 - (b) Develop and display any art of artefact significant to the recognition of the Court authority and proceedings; and
 - (c) Identify any Aboriginal-specific culturally safe/relevant adaptation to the Court physical environment or process for consideration of the Judge; and
 - (d) Identify a location where it is appropriate to convene the Court on community. The Court will make every reasonable effort to convene the Court at the location identified, subject to section 24 of the Local Court Act and any practical considerations.
- (6) Prior to the sitting day of Community Court, Law and Justice Group members and/or Respected Persons will be invited by the Local Court Judge through the Registrar to consider a welcome or introduction to all court participants, in a form chosen by the Law and Justice Group.
- (7) The Community Court is to be conducted in a way that:
 - (a) Enables the Court to address the factors contributing to the offender's offending.
 - (b) Enables the Court to consider personal, family and cultural matters when dealing with the offender.
 - (c) Enables the Court to identify and understand the importance of protective factors unique to the offender and their community including cultural connection and responsibilities to prevent re-offending.
 - (d) Encourages full participation of the offender and enables the offender to have input during the Court mentions and sentence.
 - (e) Uses language that is understood by the offender and confirms the offender's understands of the process.
 - (f) Provides the victim/s when present or their representatives and/or the prosecution or police officer where no victim or representative present, an opportunity to address the Court about the offender's actions and their impact.
 - (g) Provides all Community Court participants with an opportunity to address the Court about the offender and/or offending and any other relevant matters.
 - (h) Meets the needs of persons with disabilities to enable equal participation.
- (8) To ensure understanding by all participants the Community Court proceedings will be conducted in a language understood by the offender and other participants and interpreted into English if required.

- (9) The Community Court's participants are the Local Court Judge, the Law and Justice Group members, the offender, the offender's lawyer, the prosecutor and/or police, the victim and/or his or her representative, representatives of relevant support services and NT Correctional services representatives. It excludes other individuals seated in the Court unless they are invited by the Judge to speak.
- (10) The Local Court Judge and Law and Justice Group members may choose to invite relevant government, non-government service providers and other relevant community members or individuals as recommended by the Law and Justice Group to participate in the Community Court.
- (11) The offender may be accompanied by a support person or family member as well as their lawyer at the Community Court.
- (12) The victim of an offence may attend the Community Court and be accompanied by a support person, family member and/ or service.
- (13) If a victim of offending wishes to participate and/or observe Community Court via audio visual link or telephone this will be facilitated by the Court and arranged by the Community Court Registrar.
- (14) The Court will, as far as practicable and allowable by law, be conducted in an open fashion, with members of the general public able to attend.
- (15) The Judge may close the Court upon application if it is in the interests of justice to do so.
- (16) Community Court will often involve the discussion and disclosure of sensitive and personal information to both the offender and victim of offending. Any information of a sensitive or private nature disclosed during the Community Court and its processes, is to be treated with care by all participants and only discussed with other people where necessary to conduct the work of Community Court.
- (17) Any issues of cultural sensitivity should be raised by the Law and Justice Group with the Community Court Registrar prior to the sitting or as soon as practicable and appropriate to do so.
- (18) The Judge can terminate or adjourn the proceedings at any time but must provide reasons to all participants, including the Law and Justice Group members.
- (19) The offender may withdraw from the Community Court at any time. Where an offender withdraws their consent to participate in the Community Court, the Court will proceed to sentence as a regular sitting of the Local Court.

Part C – Application Process for Community Court

- (20) S 107D of the Sentencing Act 1995 NT sets out the criteria an offender must meet before making an application to the Local Court for the court to sentence the offender in Community Court. Application may be made:
 - (a) By an offender or their legal representative;

- (b) Following a plea of guilty where facts are agreed and where the sentence is to proceed summarily in accordance with the *Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928* (NT);
- (c) Before the Local Court at any place or in writing using an application to relist form; and
- (d) By completing a Community Courts application and the written consent of the offender for the disclosure of personal information between the Court and any relevant government departments, Law and Justice Groups and non-government organisations or persons involved in the delivery of the Community Court.
- (21) Where the criteria are met, the Court will consider applications to Community Court across the spectrum of offending and likely sentencing outcomes. The possible or likely imposition of a sentence of imprisonment does not preclude an offender for inclusion in Community court. Community Court outcomes may include all sentences pursuant to the Sentencing Act 1995 (NT), including actual imprisonment.
- (22) Such application does not have to be made at the location of the Community Court, but if accepted, the matter must be adjourned to that Court and place.
- (23) Where an application is made for Community court, the Community Court Registrar will obtain the views of the Law and Justice Group members of the location sought and provide those views to the Judge and parties.
- (24) If an application involves moving a matter from the location of the offending, the Community Court Registrar will obtain the views of the Law and Justice Group where the offending took place and provide those views to the Judge and parties. In circumstances where there is no Law and Justice Group, the Community Court registrar will obtain the views of the Elders and Respected Persons of the Community and provide them to the Judge and parties.
- (25) The prosecutor may request an adjournment to consult the victim to obtain their views on the offender's application and identify any victim contact person and support person nominated by the victim.
- (26) The offender's application will be assessed by the Court in accordance with s107D (4) of the Sentencing Act 1995 (NT) and based on the information provided in the application form, all other relevant facts and circumstances, any submission by the offender and/or the offender's legal representative and the prosecutor.
- (27) If the Court declines to grant the offender's application the Court will provide its reasons to the offender and parties to the matter.
- (28) Where an offender's application for Community Court is refused in the first instance, an offender may re-apply if there is a change in circumstances and/or new relevant information is submitted to the Court.

- (29) If an offender's application to be sentenced by the Community Court is not granted by the Court and the offender does not reapply for reconsideration, the matter will proceed in accordance with usual sentencing procedures or be adjourned to another date for sentence.
- (30) If the Court grants the offender's application to be sentenced in Community Court, pursuant to s107E of the Sentencing Act 1995 (NT) the Court will order an Aboriginal Experience Report for preparation by the Law and Justice Group members.
- (31) At that time, the Court may also order other reports available under the Sentencing Act 1995 (NT).
- (32) The Court will then adjourn the matter to a sitting of the Local Court at the relevant community with a suitable period permitted to allow for the Aboriginal Experience Report to be prepared. The Court need not be constituted by the same Judge who granted the application.

Part D – Victim Contact and Victim Support

- (33) Where an offender's application has been accepted by the Court to be dealt with in Community Court, during the adjournment a victim may nominate to the prosecutor a contact person and/or a support person. These roles may be performed by the same person or a different person, as nominated by the victim.
- (34) These roles may be performed by:
 - (a) A member of the Law and Justice Group who is identified as a trusted person for the victim;
 - (b) A facilitator for a local Law and Justice Group;
 - (c) A local service provider with appropriate connection to the case and the victim (for example a Women's Shelter staff member);
 - (d) An Aboriginal Community Police Officer or liaison officer; or
 - (e) Another person, including a family member.
- (35) The prosecutor will advise the Community Court Registrar of the name and contact details of any victim contact or support person. The Community Court Registrar will then contact the victim contact and/or support person to provide information about the role.
 - (a) It is the role of the contact person to explain the Community Court process to the victim and invite their participation in the process.
 - (b) Where the victim consents to being involved in the Community Court the victim contact person should provide assistance in preparing the victim for participation in the Community Court, provide information about the victim contact person's role, inform

- the victim of their right to have a support person or representative present at court and how they may participate in the process on behalf of the victim.
- (c) The victim contact person will then report to the Community Court Registrar as to whether the victim intends to participate in the process. If the victim is participating, the victim contact person will address if this is in person, whether the victim will have a support person present or if they will participate through the attendance of a representative to present their views.

Part E – Preparation of the Aboriginal Experience Report

- (36) Pursuant to s107B of the *Sentencing Act 1995* (NT) the Law and Justice Groups are responsible for preparation of the Aboriginal Experience Reports.
 - (a) The Law and Justice Group will nominate members of the group to participate in a Community Court on behalf of the Law and Justice Group, which may include but is not limited to, the preparation of Aboriginal Experience Reports and/or to sit with the Judge during the Community Court.
 - (b) Law and Justice Group members who participate in Community Court are appointed pursuant to the Regulations, however it is at the Judge's discretion as to whether a Law and Justice Group member can participate in a particular matter.
 - (c) Factors that may be considered by the Judge in this discretion include the management of any conflict of interest and any relevant criminal antecedents.
- (37) The Community Court Registrar is the point of contact with the Court for the Law and Justice Group members and is responsible for the provision of documentation and information to the Law and Justice Group.

Conflict of Interest

- (38) The offender and victim have the right to raise an objection to the participation of a particular Law and Justice Group member in the preparation of an Aboriginal Experience Report or during the Community Court sentencing procedure on the basis that there is a conflict of interest.
 - (a) Prior to any documentation being provided to the Law and Justice group members who will be involved in the preparation of the Aboriginal Experience Report and Community Court, the identity of the nominated members will be provided by the Community Court Registrar to the offender and victim and/or their contact person (if appointed).
 - (b) The offender, their legal representative, or the victim and/or victim contact person have 5 working days on receipt of the names of the nominated members to raise any conflict of interest with the Community Court Registrar. On receipt of advice of a potential conflict of interest the Community Court Registrar will list the matter before the Judge who ordered the Aboriginal Experience Report or who will hear the matter, so that they may hear submissions by the parties on the issue.

- (c) After considering any submissions and evidence provided, the Judge is responsible for determining whether a conflict of interest exists and if so, to decide whether the conflict should give rise to the Law and Justice member withdrawing from participating in the proceedings or whether the conflict (if any) can be managed, and the member remain in proceedings.
- (39) Prior to any documentation being provided to the Law and Justice Group members the offender and victim's name will be disclosed so that any members can raise any conflict concerns with the Community Court Registrar for the Judge's consideration. The question of conflict and a member's continued participation in the process will be at the Judge's discretion.
- (40) If, at any time during the Community Court, a Law and Justice Group member considers their involvement to be detrimental to the aims and objectives of the Community Court sentencing procedure, they may excuse themselves from the preparation of the Aboriginal Experience Report or the sentencing hearing.
- (41) If it is necessary to replace a Law and Justice Group member in the process for any reason, the Law and Justice Group will nominate an approved replacement and advise the court and parties.

Documentation to be provided to the Law and Justice Group Members

- (42) The Community Court Registrar will notify the Law and Justice Group of the Court order and provide the relevant documentation to the Law and Justice Group members so that they may commence preparation of the Aboriginal Experience Report.
- (43) The relevant documentation to be provided includes copies of the charges to which the offender has entered pleas of guilty, the agreed facts of the offending, a copy of the offender's information for courts, a copy of any victim impact statement tendered to the court at the plea of guilty and any further documentation provided to the court by the offender, their legal representative or the prosecutor.
 - (a) All care should be taken to keep documents provided to the Law and Justice Groups during the course of proceedings confidential and only distributed where necessary to conduct Community Court Law and Justice Group work.
 - (b) Items that are culturally sensitive, identifying, particularly photographs, or may contact traumatic material must not be distributed wider than the Law and Justice Group members involved in the sentencing procedure, the prosecution and counsel for the defence and kept in a way to minimise unnecessary exposure to traumatic or sensitive material.
- (44) All documentation provided by the Community Court Registrar to the Law and Justice Group members in relation to a particular matter may be returned to the Community Court Registrar once the matter has been concluded.

Preparation of the Aboriginal Experience Report

- (45) The Law and Justice Group members will then prepare the Aboriginal Experience Report taking into account the provisions of s107B of the Sentencing Act 1995 (NT). As part of this process the Law and Justice Group members will:
 - (a) Take all reasonable steps to offer an opportunity for the offender to speak with the members to discuss their offending, personal background and any other relevant matters.
 - (b) Take all reasonable steps to offer an opportunity to the victim or their contact person to be spoken with if they have elected to participate in the process (with a nominated support person present if they so choose) about the victim's perspective on the offending.
- (46) Matters to be included in the Aboriginal Experience Report may identify availability of programs and treatment on community that the offender may access or already access, or may identify a lack of availability of programs or treatment on community that would be of assistance to the offender if developed, such as but not limited to:
 - (a) Community work, drug and alcohol rehabilitation programs, behaviour change programs, counselling, parenting programs, mental health supports and treatment plans (if relevant) and any reports regarding any disability or impairment that may impact on the offender.
 - (b) Any local cultural or community activities that are available to assist the offenders' rehabilitation and:
 - (c) Activities that would restore or give back to the victim or the community who have been impacted by the offending.
 - (d) Employment or volunteer work available to the offender on community.
 - (e) Any alternative to custody programs.
- (47) Where it is identified in an Aboriginal Experience Report that certain programs or treatment that may benefit the offender are not available on community, the Law and Justice group members are encouraged to identify in the Aboriginal Experience Report how such programs could be achieved in the community and if any local initiatives could grow their capacity to expand programs or treatment to adapt current services to meet the gap.
- (48) The Law and Justice Group members will prepare the Aboriginal Experience Report in the form and manner approved by the Chief Judge; however, this information may be in other than writing.

Part F - Procedure on the day of Community Court

- (49) Prior to the commencement of the Community Court sitting the Judge will meet with the Law and Justice Group members to discuss the Community Court matters which are to be heard in the Community Court list for that circuit.
- (50) Just prior to the formal opening of the Community Court, if the Law and Justice Group and Respected Persons have elected to do so, the Judge will invite the group to conduct any welcome or introduction referred to above at point 6.
- (51) The Judge will then formally open the Community Court and acknowledge the Country on which the Court is being conducted.
- (52) The Judge will then explain the role of each participant and how the matter will proceed.
- (53) To encourage full participation, the Judge and Community Court participants may be seated in a formal Court room arrangement, or at the same level, or in a circle, or in any other arrangement at the Judge's discretion following consultation with the Law and Justice Group members assisting that day.
- (54) At the sentencing hearing, one or more Law and Justice Group members may sit with the Judge. As far as practicable, these will be the same Law and Justice Group members who prepared the offender's Aboriginal Experience Report.
- (55) At the commencement of the matter, the Court will allow an opportunity to each participant to introduce themselves to the Court and explain their interest and role in the matter.
- (56) The Judge will decide the order and manner of proceedings, having regard to any information the Community Court participants may wish to express. The Community Court sentencing procedure will contain the following elements:
 - (a) The Judge will explain the charge to the offender and confirm the offender's understanding of their plea of guilty previously entered.
 - (b) The prosecutor will then read out the agreed facts to those present.
 - (c) The agreed facts read out may be reduced to a summary of the formal agreed facts. Where the victim consents, any victim impact statement obtained by the prosecution (or a summary thereof) may be read out to the court by the prosecutor.
 - (d) The Law and Justice Group members will present the Aboriginal Experience Report to the Judge and talk about the contents and recommendations of the report.
 - (e) During the presentation of the Aboriginal Experience Report, the Law and Justice Group members may explain to the offender and the Court the impact that the offending has had on the community and his or her family, any impact the offending has had on the victim and may acknowledge any steps that the offender has taken to address factors contributing to his or her offending.

- (f) The presentation may include discussion of any culturally relevant sentencing options recommended in the Aboriginal Experience Report by the Law and Justice Group members.
- (g) During the sentencing discussion the Judge may invite other contributors to be available to speak, including the offender, the victim, the victim's chosen representative or victim contact officer.
- (h) The Judge and the Law and Justice Group members sitting with the Judge will encourage the offender to speak to the court about the offending, the steps they have taken or are taking to address the factors contributing to their offending, and their motivation to address their offending, rather than talking through a legal representative.
- (i) The offender will be encouraged to comment about the effect of the offences on the victim and acknowledge any identified effect the offending has had on the victim and the community.
- (j) The Judge may ask the offender how the court might assist them to address the factors contributing to the offending and how the court may support the offender to stop offending in the future.
- (k) The prosecutor is offered the opportunity to make any further submissions on sentence.
- (I) The offender and/or their counsel is offered the opportunity to make any further submissions on sentence.
- (m) After hearing all final submissions, the Court may proceed to sentence the offender in accordance with relevant sentencing legislation or adjourn the matter for further mention or mentions dependent on what approach to sentencing the Court decides to take.
- (n) Following sentence, the consequences for any breach of the sentence should be explained to the offender and that the offender demonstrate an understanding of those consequences.
- (o) If the Judge proceeds to sentence the offender, following sentence, the Judge will invite the Law and Justice Group members sitting with the Judge to address the offender on that sentence.

Part G – Progress Reports and Mentions

(57) Where the Judge decides to adjourn the matter to another date the Judge may vary or grant bail to provide for the offender's participation in any programs, treatment or activities and any other conditions as the Court may deem appropriate.

- (58) The Court may further request an addendum Aboriginal Experience Report be prepared by the Law and Justice Group for the next Community Court date, to provide any updates to the matters discussed in the first Aboriginal Experience Report and update as to the progress of the offender in any programs, activities and any other relevant matters including the victim's perspective.
- (59) Where matters are adjourned for progress mentions to a future Community Court date, the procedures and guidelines set out in this Practice Direction should be applied by the Court for each sitting of the Community Court.
- (60) It is expected that the same Law and Justice Group members remain involved from the start to completion of a particular matter however, it is acknowledged that this may not always be possible.

Part H - Breach of Sentence

(61) Where an offender breaches an order of the Community Court and that breach is admitted, before dealing with the breach, the Court may adjourn the matter with the offender's consent to the next sitting of Community Court (if the court is not sitting as a Community Court) to gain the views of the Law and Justice group members as to the breach and any other relevant information the members may provide.